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Chair’s Introduction

In a year that has brought 
significant challenges to our 
sector and the United Kingdom’s 
decision to leave the EU in June 
2016, 2015/16 has seen Swan 
focus on securing its long term 

financial viability whilst delivering a robust response 
to the 1% rent cut. We are continuing with the 
delivery of improved services to our customers and 
maintaining focus on making Swan a brilliant place 
for our staff to work.   

The completion of the second year of our ambitious 
three year corporate strategy sees us on track to 
deliver in excess of 1,000 new homes, investing 10,000 
hours in community engagement activities and £100m, 
in collaboration with our partners, to regenerate the 
communities we serve by 2017.

This annual report represents an opportunity for us to 
share our many achievements and also highlight our 
plans for the coming year.    

Rising to the political and economic 
challenges
• The decision by the Chancellor to reduce social 

housing rents by 1% for each of the the next four 
years will have a significant impact on the sector’s 
rental income. This change reduces our income by 
around £13.0m over that period and we have taken a 
swift and robust approach to ensure that the impact 
is mitigated by exploring opportunities to generate 
additional income and by reducing our costs, but 
without impacting our services.

• Our Governance structure has enabled us to adapt 
quickly to the changing external environment and 
was endorsed again with a further top rating on both 
governance and viability from the social housing 
regulator following an In-Depth Assessment. 

Investing through our financial strength
• 2015/16 has been another financially strong year for 

Swan and we have also made the transition to a new 
financial reporting standard, FRS102. Group turnover 
for the year reached £109.9m and our surplus was 
£11.2m.

• We continue to see a substantial return from our 
commercial activities. They generated a turnover of 
£43.1m and reported profits of £10.5m before gift 
aid and tax. To date our commercial activities have 
generated over £54.0m of gift aid which has been 
reinvested in building homes and supporting our 
communities.

• We have continued to benefit from the security of our 
long term financial position following the restructuring 
of our bank facility and £150m bond issue in 2014/15, 
which was shortlisted at the Treasury Association’s 
Deal of the Year Awards 2016. Both our AA – credit 
rating from Standard and Poor’s and our V1 top 

rating for viability were confirmed again this financial 
year.  

• We invested £9.4m in maintaining and improving our 
existing homes and £35.2m  in building new homes, 
with 410 new homes completed.   

• We continue to spend our money wisely and have 
worked with our staff to generate over £1.0m of 
savings in 2015/16 and over £4.0m of additional 
income or savings from our development activity.  

Supporting our residents
• We challenged ourselves to improve our customer 

journey and have completed many projects to do this 
including an in-depth Customer Access project which 
will help shape the delivery of services in the future. 

• We have completed our Repairs Service Review 
which has resulted in customer satisfaction with 
repairs meeting target and enabled us to better 
support our residents with the repairs service they 
need.

• This year we have supported over 1,400 residents 
to meet the challenges of Welfare Reform and to 
manage their finances and 80 residents have taken 
part in our formal training activities.

• We have launched two new Community Facilities as 
part of our regeneration projects at Blackwall Reach 
in Tower Hamlets and Beechwood in Basildon, which 
will be used to deliver a wide range of activities to 
support our residents.

Making Swan a brilliant place to work
• In the 2014/15 report we highlighted that we had 

been judged “one to watch” in the Times Top 100 
Not for Profit Companies awards. This year we 
were delighted to be awarded one star accreditation 
securing 63rd place in the top 100 not for profit 
companies.  We believe that this result, which is 
based on the feedback our staff gave to the Times 
Top 100 survey, directly relates to the wide range of 
ways we have invested in our staff this year including 
our Hearts and Minds engagement programme 
which has seen over 300 “sizzle sessions” held 
across our business led by our staff “Ambassadors” 
focusing on how we can make Swan brilliant. Over 
50 of our Leaders are benefiting from our Leadership 
Development Programme which will equip the next 
generation of Swan leaders with the skills they need 
to help continue to drive our business forward.   

I am delighted with our achievements over the past 
year and the way that we have, together, risen to the 
challenges the year has brought. This response would not 
have been possible without the support of our Board, our 
staff, our stakeholders, our residents and partners and I 
would like to personally thank them for their contribution.

Valerie Owen OBE Chair - Swan Housing Association
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Group Consolidated Highlights - 5 Year Summary

Income and expenditure 
(£)

2016 2015* 2014 2013 2012

Turnover 109.9m 82.3m 89.5m 104.8m 106.3m

Turnover on general needs 
housing

48.7m 45.7m 42.5m 40.5m 35.7m

Surplus/(deficit) before tax 11.2m (37.0)m 6.2m 15.0m 13.1m

Net interest payable 16.6m 15.5m 15.7m 15.9m 13.2m

Balance sheet (£) 2016 2015* 2014 2013 2012

Tangible fixed assets housing 703.7m 685.3m 624.0m 623.2m 607.4m

Investment in new housing 17.3m 45.0m 32.7m 21.6m 29.6m

Total expenditure on repairs 
and improvements

9.4m 8.3m 7.6m 6.9m 6.5m

Grants received 3.7m 11.7m 7.9m 7.1m 2.0m

Bank borrowings (excluding 
fair value adjustments)

284.3m 309.3m 451.5m 483.3m 478.7m

Bond 150.0m 150.0m - - -

Accommodation (units) 2016 2015* 2014 2013 2012

Total social housing stock 
owned

9,876 9,599 9,593 9,483 9,426

Total social housing stock 
owned and managed

11,396 11,125 11,124 11,018 10,979

KPI data 2016 2015* 2014 2013 2012

Interest cover 220% 181% 158% 161% 157%

Net debt per unit (£) 47,782 51,418 46,394 48,510 52,020

General needs tenants arrears 
as % of rent due

2.48% 2.59% 2.23% 2.77% 2.99%

Void turnaround (days) 14.5 17.1 15.4 14.0 15.1

% of all repairs completed on 
time

98.5% 98.2% 98.9% 98.8% 98.9%

*2015 restated to FRS102. Note 2014, 2013 and 2012 have not been restated.
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Strategic Report

Swan Group’s principal activities are delivered through: 

Swan Housing Association, a public 
benefit entity, now owns and manages 
over 11,000 properties in East London 
and Essex and provides affordable 
homes for people who cannot afford 

to rent or buy in the open market including affordable 
rent and shared ownership products.  Swan Housing 
Association also provides general needs housing 
services and services to our leaseholders; provides NHS 
key worker, supported housing accommodation and 
care; and invests in our communities and carries out 
large scale regeneration activities to develop sustainable 
communities.  

 NU living, the brand for our private 
residential housing activities, offering new 
build houses and apartments for sale in 
developments across East London and 
Essex.  They take an ethical stance and 
are committed to putting communities 

first, focusing on delivering good urban design as 
it is fundamental to creating thriving, sustainable 
communities. 

Vivo Support which offers care and 
support services to a range of clients 
in Essex including flexible home care 
for clients.  They support and care for 

people to allow them to gain independent living skills, 
maintain their home and, most importantly, enjoy life.  

Hera Management Services which 
provides property management services.  
Hera has achieved the high standards 
for voluntary ARMA-Q accreditation and 

continues to maintain the highest levels of customer and 
management service to retain this accreditation.   

Our Strategy 

An ambitious three year corporate strategy sees Swan 
Group on track to deliver in excess of 1,000 new homes, 
investing 10,000 hours in community engagement 
activities and £100m, in collaboration with our partners, 
to regenerate the communities we serve by 2017.  

Developed by the Board and Executive Team in 
consultation with customers and staff it has ensured 
Swan Group’s continued focus on our four strategic 
themes whilst enabling us to adapt to the changing 
external environment for the sector: 

Happy Customers: Stretching targets and a standard 
methodology for measuring customer satisfaction across 
our activities has continued to see customer satisfaction 
levels improve.  Retention of our Customer Service 
Excellence Accreditation and development of employee 
engagement programmes has ensured that focus has 
continued to be on delivering excellent customer service. 

The Local Partner:  Leveraging partnership working 
is recognised by the Swan Group as key to continuing 
to improve the communities that we serve whilst also 
responding to sector changes.  Our reputation for 
collaboration in both our housing and regeneration 
activities has enabled us to access further funding and 
opportunities such as DCLG funding for our Blackwall 
Reach Regeneration Project and Mayor’s funding for our 
Cambridge Road, Barking landmark regeneration which 
also represents a new Borough for us to be working in, 
demonstrating the benefits of enhancing our reputation 
as The Local Partner. We continue to work closely with 
our partners to ensure that the successful partnership 
working on key projects is widely communicated to 
enhance the reputations of all involved. This has led 
to, for example, two Ministerial visits to our Laindon 
Shopping Centre regeneration project since our 
acquisition of it in May 2015. 

Fit for the Future:  We have responded swiftly and 
robustly to the changes to our income brought about 
by the 1% rent cut.  We set stretching targets for our 
staff to identify savings of £1,000,000 in the forthcoming 
financial year, which were exceeded.  We have continued 
to benefit from our restructured bank facility and have 
successfully sought external funding to support our 
work. We continue to focus on building our commercial 
activities so that they can continue to provide additional 
resources for the Swan Group as well as continuing 
to monitor the impact of the UK’s decision to leave the 
European Union on our business plan.

Future readiness also requires investment and we have 
launched our programme to upgrade all Swan Group 
websites and carried out a successful Customer Access 
Project to ensure that we can communicate with our 
customers in the way they wish in future.  We have also 
reviewed our office provision and consolidated staff into 
one Head Office in Billericay, rather than two offices. 

Motivated People: Our strategy recognised that 
motivated and engaged staff produce better results which 
would, in turn, improve our performance and enhance 
our reputation. The delivery of our Hearts & Minds staff 
engagement programme this year, in accordance with 
our People Strategy, has seen our staff take part in over 
300 “Sizzle Sessions” focusing on how to make Swan 
Group an organisation which is “Brilliant” for both our 
staff and our customers.  Coupled with our Leadership 
Development Programme and communication from the 
Chief Executive and senior leaders, this has resulted in 
significant improvement in staff engagement levels with 
the result that the Group moved from “one to watch” 
to 63rd position in the Sunday Times Top 100 Not for 
Profit Companies to work for in the UK. The concurrent 
improvements in Customer Satisfaction confirm that the 
strategy was well placed.   
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Business Review

This is the first year in which these financial statements 
have been prepared under Financial Reporting Standard 
102 – ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (‘FRS102’). 
Note 28 explains the adjustments that have been made to 
transition to the new reporting standard.

The Board is pleased to report a surplus before tax of 
£11.2m for the year. This includes another significant 
contribution from our commercial activities which 
delivered a profit of £10.5m (2015: £5.5m) before gift 
aid and tax. Turnover at £109.9m (2015: £82.3m) was 
in line with expectations. The variance year on year 
is attributable to a higher volume of private residential 
homes sales. 

Group reserves increased from £193.5m to £204.6m 
and our balance sheet remains strong despite the 
adjustments required on transition to FRS102. Interest 
cover and net debt per unit, our key loan covenants, 
continue to meet our lenders’ requirements. 

We continue to perform in the upper quartile when 
benchmarked against our peers in terms of void 
turnaround which has improved to 14.5 days (2015: 17.1 
days). Current tenant arrears have also improved in the 
year to 2.48% (2015: 2.59%).

Strategic Report

Capital structure and treasury management

The Group’s Treasury policy ensures that there is 
sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities as they fall due, 
our covenants are not breached, we achieve a market 
return on surplus funds and we have sufficient funding to 
support our strategic plans. 

During the year Swan New Homes signed a Housing 
Zone facility totalling £29.1m.  This signifies an important 
development in the Group’s funding, as it is for the 
development of private properties with no guarantee from 
Swan Housing Association.  

A recent report by Social Housing (Vol 28/No 4/April 
2016) benchmarked Housing Associations’ average cost 
of funds for 2014/15. Of the 130 largest associations (by 
unit size) Swan had the eighth lowest average cost of 
funds at 3.33%. 
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Facilities and liquidity

As at 31 March 2016 the Group had the following facilities:

Source Facility 
31 March 2016

£m

Drawn
31 March 2016

£m

Facility
31 March 2015

£m

Drawn 
31 March 2015

£m
RBS loan 138 102 138 113
Lloyds loan 119 99 119 114
Santander loan 83 83 83 83
Bank loan total 340 284 340 310
Bond 250 150 250 150
Bank and bond total 590 434 590 460
RBS PFI 40 32 40 34
Total debt 630 466 630 494

Strategic Report

As at 31 March 2016 the Group had £56m of bank 
(2015: £30m) and £100m of bond (2015: £100m) facilities 
available for borrowing.  In line with our prudent policies 
on liquidity management, these undrawn facilities meet 
all of the Group’s contractually committed developments 
in the coming years. 

In late June 2016 Standard & Poor’s (S&P), the credit 
rating agency, cut the rating of the UK by two notches 
from AAA to AA as a result of the uncertainty created 
by the Brexit vote. As with many associations our credit 
rating benefits from an expectation of Government 
support and as a result of the downgrade of the UK 
Government S&P downgraded the Swan credit rating 
from AA- (stable) to A+ (negative). The impact of the 
Brexit vote also resulted in the 30 year gilt rate falling 
to historically low levels and on the 8th July we issued 
£60m of retained 30 year bonds at a yield of 3.33%.  The 
proceeds of the bond will be used to refinance existing 
bank debt.

The Group borrows from three (2015: three) banks at 
floating rates of interest.  Interest rate swaps are used to 
convert some of the floating into fixed and RPI indexed 
to limit the Group’s interest rate exposure.  The bond has 
a fixed rate of interest, and no swaps have been entered 
into to convert this fixed rate into a different interest rate 
basis. 

At the year end 74% (2015: 70%) of debt was fixed and 
26% (2015: 30%) was floating. Scenario analysis has 
been run to assess the sensitivity on the floating debt to 
movements in interest rates. 

If the £15m of drawn RCF at the year end is excluded 
from the above figures, then the mix is 76% fixed and 
24% floating. 

The Group does not have any non-Sterling or exchange 
rate exposures.

The charts below show the split of outstanding debt 
between variable and fixed rates and of the fixed rates, a 
further breakdown by fix type including and excluding the 
RCF.

Interest rate risk management 

All debt £466m

Excluding £15m RCF

Variable Fixed Callable < 1 year

RPI Indexed

26% 74%
59%

5%
10%

Variable Fixed Callable < 1 year

24% 76%
59%

6%
11%
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Counterparty risk management

The Group maintains a formal counterparty policy in 
respect of those institutions where surplus funds may be 
deposited.  Deposits are made either in call accounts, 
or where the notice period is no more than two months.  
In addition, the credit ratings of institutions are regularly 
reviewed and form part of any investment decision. 

Swan Housing Association has three key loan covenants:
 

1. Interest cover which is based on earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation – major 
repairs included (EBITDA-MRI)

2. Debt per unit which is based on those units 
which are owned or managed by Swan Housing 
Association and generate a rental income.  

3. Gearing covenant, which is based on a 
percentage of the asset value.

Whilst the bank loans have all three of the above 
covenants, the £250m bond, which was issued in March 
2015 has only a gearing covenant. These are monitored 
monthly and reported to the three bank lenders on a 
quarterly basis. For the year ended 31 March 2016 we 
were in compliance with our covenants. All four sources 
of finance, three bank loans and the Bond, are secured 
on social housing assets.  

Treasury Strategy

We continue to deliver Value for Money savings through 
our prudent cash management processes and minimising 
interest costs where possible in line with treasury 
policies.  

Housing

The Housing Strategy we implemented in the last 
financial year with the aim of delivering “Happy 
Customers” has produced significant positive outcomes 
this year.  Overall customer satisfaction has reached 
83.2% against a target of 80% and 84% of residents 
were satisfied with their neighbourhood. 

The enhancements we made to our repairs service 
(including the aftercare service) based on feedback 
received from customers have been particularly effective 
and 89% of residents were satisfied with their last repair, 
meeting our target.  We continue to work closely with our 
repairs partner Axis and, again, delivered our planned 
and major works programmes on target and ensured 
100% of our properties had a valid gas safety certificate.   

Listening to feedback from residents enabled us to meet 
our target for residents who felt their views were “listened 
to and acted upon” and focus on our customer feedback 
process ensured that 100% of Stage 1 complaints were 

Compliance with loan covenants

Strategic Report

responded to within target.  This year we received 233 
compliments, meaning we received more compliments 
than complaints.  

Improving the information available to residents 
and ensuring that this information is also available 
digitally has been a key focus.  Our annual Residents’ 
Conference included digital inclusion activities, which 
were followed up by a Customer Access Project where 
over 350 residents responded to our questionnaire, 
providing key information on their level of digital inclusion 
which indicated that 77% of our residents have access to 
the internet, rising to 90% of residents aged under 40.   

We worked with our customers to develop a new Tenant 
Handbook and Service Standards leaflets ensuring 
residents have a clear understanding of our services 
and what they can expect from us.  These documents 
are available in fully digital format for staff and residents.  
Encouraging residents to engage digitally is key to ensure 
residents realise the benefits of super-fast broadband 
which we have continued to deliver to both our existing 
estates and provide as standard in our new homes.  
Overall digital engagement has increased significantly.

Our positive support for those residents affected by 
Welfare Reform and to prepare for Universal Credit has 
continued.

By supporting our residents we have been able to 
achieve our rent arrears target and seen the number of 
households evicted for non-payment of rent continue to 
fall. Our allocations and lettings service introduced ‘any 
day’ tenancies to further improve our void performance 
which is now 14.5 days against a target of 16 days, which 
is already a top quartile performance. 

Investing in our residents and their communities 
continues to be a key area of focus, with partnership 
working continuing to be the preferred delivery method 
for this activity.  Working with partners including 
The Prince’s Trust, NHS, London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets and Volley Ball UK our Resident Involvement 
and Community Development team delivered sports 
activities, youth clubs and employment and training 
sessions throughout the year. 80 residents participated in 
our 2015/16 Resident Involvement training programme.  

The work of one of our Community Development Officers 
was recognised at the 2015 TPAS Awards where he 
won the national Resident Involvement Officer of the 
Year award. The ability of the team to deliver these 
activities was further enhanced by the launch of our 
new Community Facilities at Beechwood Village and 
will follow with the launch of the new multi-purpose 
Community Facility at Blackwall Reach in September 
2016.
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Forest Gate PFI

The delivery of our management obligations for the 
London Borough of Newham has continued successfully 
this year, with overall customer satisfaction levels with 
our service as Landlord increasing to 85% and rent 
arrears at 5% better than the target levels ensuring we 
continue to exceed our contractual targets.
     

We continue to work closely with the Borough and 
the local community to bring about environmental 
improvements whilst maintaining strong housing 
management performance. Our relationships with 
local residents continue to be excellent with an active 
Residents’ Panel, the Chair of which was shortlisted at 
the 2016 TPAS Awards as Resident of the Year, for her 
work with Swan and in the wider Borough. Financial 
performance continues to be in line with our business 
plan. 

We were delighted to receive confirmation that, following 
inspection, we had retained our Customer Service 
Excellence accreditation and Swan were found to be 
compliant against all 54 elements of the standard with 
three additional elements warranting a compliance plus 
rating, taking our total to 14. The report highlights Swan’s 
strong partnerships, particularly with Axis, and our 
commitment to deliver high quality services to residents.

Care and Support

Our Care and Support service continues to deliver 
excellent services to its clients. Vivo, working in 
partnership with Swan’s Care and Repair team, were 
recognised for their innovative approach to care 
solutions.  The NHS Alliance showcased our intensive 
six day care package to enable vulnerable residents 
to leave hospital or avoid hospital admission as just 
the kind of fresh thinking that is needed to address a 
critical social care issue.  This service was featured 
in an ITN Productions film for the NHS Alliance and 
was also recently highlighted as best practice by Local 
Government. Vivo continues to grow and has made a 
strategic acquisition during the year. 

We continue to expand our Foyer Service and have been 
awarded a new contract to provide Foyer Services at 
Heather Court in Havering, which represents a further 
expansion of our partnership working, confirming our 
Local Partner approach.  We will work in the coming year 
to deliver at Heather Court the same excellent standard 
of services as are provided in our Swan House, which 
accommodates 17 young people, and Dove Cott House, 
accommodating 24 young parents and their children.  
These two Foyers were recently awarded the Foyer 
Federation’s Status Mark accreditation, confirming that 

Strategic Report

Property Management

Our property management company Hera grew its 
business by a further 16%. Their continued maintenance 
of the high standards required for voluntary ARMA-Q 
accreditation demonstrates Hera’s ongoing commitment 
to providing the highest levels of customer and 
management service. The securing of strategic new 
contracts including the appointment as Managing 
Agent for Red Door Ventures, a residential developer 
established and wholly owned by the London Borough of 
Newham has contributed to this growth.  

the approach taken by our Foyer teams enables the 
young people to gain the necessary skills and offers 
them the opportunities and resources they need to lead 
successful independent lives. 

We continue to increase the number of our Service Users 
who are involved with Swan and who take part in our 
events and training.
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Regeneration and Development Activity

We continue to specialise in complex regeneration 
projects building new, mixed tenure estates, often 
including community and commercial facilities with the 
aim of creating exemplary communities.  This year we 
have delivered 410 new homes at our regeneration 
projects at Blackwall Reach in Tower Hamlets, Repton 
Court in Redbridge, Beechwood Village, Basildon and 
Oldchurch in Havering. We have also started a further 
891 new homes on our projects at Beechwood Village, 
Basildon; Blackwall Reach, Tower Hamlets; Repton 
Court, Redbridge; Cambridge Road, Barking and Peachy 
House in Ilford.  

We have been able to secure £29.1m of Housing Zone 
funding for our landmark regeneration of Cambridge 
Road, Barking and are working towards a further £50.0m 
of Estate Regeneration funding for our regeneration of 
Blackwall Reach.

Although we continue to expand into new Boroughs 
in our target geographical area of East London and 
Essex, we strive to improve the wider communities in 
which our residents live.  This year we purchased the 
Laindon Shopping Centre in Basildon, with the aim of 
bringing about the long awaited regeneration of this 
area, which was constructed in the 1960s.  Now in poor 
condition with around 40% of the retail units vacant, the 
Centre blights the local area which is occupied by many 
Swan residents. Our plans for a new High Street with 
commercial and health facilities and new homes have 
been welcomed during early stages of consultation and 
we expect to submit an application for planning by the 
end of 2016. 

NU living, our brand for our private housebuilding 
activities, continues to grow in strength. Phase 4 of 
our development at Oldchurch Park, Romford was 
sold off plan and at The Wharf Property Awards 2015, 
we received two awards, the first for Best Affordable 
Scheme for Angel Way, Romford, a shared ownership 
scheme and also Highly Commended for Best 
Residential Development for the all private Bellevue Bow.   
Bellevue Bow, the final phase of Swan’s 10 year long 
regeneration of Bow Cross, also won the Best Urban 
Regeneration Project 2015 at the First Time Buyer’s 
Awards.

The Bricks LABC Warranty awards also gave a Highly 
Commended award to Bellevue Bow in the multi-storey 
development category.  The Site Manager on this project 
was also awarded the Southern Region Site Agent of the 
Year at the LABC Building Excellence Awards 2015.   

We successfully launched two new websites covering 
both our main and shared ownership activities and 
continue to promote the new brand. 

We are a catalyst for regeneration, leveraging our 
reputation as The Local Partner to secure projects and 
funding that enable us to create thriving, sustainably 
communities.  Key projects include:

Development case study

Strategic Report
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The Regeneration Partner

Working in partnership with the London Borough of Tower Hamlets and the 
GLA we completed the first phase of the Blackwall Reach regeneration in 
the London Borough of Tower Hamlets which will replace 252 homes with a 
community of over 1500 homes, new community facilities, an extended school, 
replacement mosque, improved public realm and commercial premises.  This 
project has already been recognised for Excellence in Planning Growth at the 
2015 Planning Awards.

Working in Partnership with the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham 
and the Greater London Authority we have started work on our landmark 
regeneration of Cambridge Road, Barking.  This key site in Barking Town 
Centre has been vacant since 2004.  Our project will see the site transformed 
to include four interlinked residential towers, the tallest being 26 stories high 
and will provide 274 modern stylish homes, of which at least 49 will be shared 
ownership properties and a much needed creative industry workspace.  This 
project will be supported by £29.1m of Housing Zone funding. 

Working in partnership with Basildon Borough Council and the Homes and 
Communities Agency we continue our landmark regeneration of the Craylands 
Estate in Basildon. Since work began in 2006, 407 new homes have already 
been built or are under construction. The final phase will take the total number 
of new homes created to over 900. Joint funding with Essex County Council and 
Basildon Borough Council will also facilitate multi-million pound regeneration 
works to upgrade pavements, roads, street lights and green spaces on the 
estate which is now known as Beechwood Village. New community facilities 
and commercial units have also now opened. 

Strategic Report
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Our Social Impact

Notwithstanding the changing external climate for the 
Sector, Corporate Social Responsibility remains a key 
focus for our Group. Over the year we had sixteen 
apprentices directly employed in a variety of positions 
across the business in Essex and London. Four of the 
first phase apprentices, employed in 2014, have already 
progressed to full time positions and others have moved 
onto higher level training to advance their careers further.    

Our Foyer Teams worked with the innovative “Year Here” 
postgraduate Social Leadership programme, which saw 
one of their inspiring graduates working with staff and 
residents at the Foyer to create a social enterprise.  The 
community shop they created, which sells key items such 
as nappies, household goods etc, in small numbers to 
help those living on a budget, is now open to the wider 
community in Laindon. 

We continue to take our environmental impact seriously 
and following Gold Award success at last year’s SHIFT 
(Sustainable Homes Index for Tomorrow) we were 
delighted to be awarded “Best in Class” for the work 
Swan Group has undertaken to date including our 
Sustainability Week, the work of our Green Team and 
our measurement of our environmental impact via our 
Carbon Scorecard. Looking forward, we aim to be the 
first Housing Association to achieve Platinum SHIFT 
status. 

We continue to work through our Swan Foundation to 
support our communities in East London and Essex 
through education, employment, community cohesion, 
environmental and health and sports projects.  The 
Foundation’s Construction Trades School project 
delivered in partnership with Barking and Dagenham 
College was shortlisted in the Excellence in the 
Employment and Training category at the TPAS awards.  
This project helped young people stay in education and 
training and to explore careers in construction. The 
Swan Foundation has developed a new website to help 
promote its activities and to generate further partnership 
working. 

Our People

Last year, in recognition of how important our People are 
in the successful delivery of our strategic objectives, we 
set ourselves the challenge of moving from the “one to 
watch” accreditation we had obtained the first time we 
took part in the Times 100 Best Companies survey in 
14/15, to being in the Top 100 Not for Profit Companies 
to work for in the UK.   We were therefore delighted to be 
ranked 63rd in the UK in February 2016.  

This result, which is based on an independent survey of 
all staff across our Group, showed that we had increased 
our scores across all eight factors measured by the 
survey and that we were ranked in the Top 15 for staff 
“being excited about our future”. These outcomes have 

confirmed that the approach taken by our People and 
Communications strategy to continue to invest in our staff 
whilst challenging them to deliver excellent customer 
service was the right one. 

Over the year our “Hearts and Minds” staff engagement 
programme saw our staff Ambassadors leading over 
300 “sizzle” sessions focusing on how to make Swan 
Group brilliant and to bring about long term culture 
change.  These sessions were delivered by staff in a fun 
and engaging way and supported by a communications 
plan which ensured staff engagement throughout the 
project – it is likely that the Times Top 100 survey finding 
that staff were having 9% more fun with their team can 
be attributed in part to this activity.    We continue to 
develop the next generation of our leaders through our 
Leadership Development Programme.  To date over 90 
sessions have been run for leaders at first line, tactical 
and strategic levels. The survey results showed that My 
Manager scores were up 7%.   
 

We ensured that the Sunday Times Top 100 success 
was shared with all our staff, by celebrating across 
the business on Best Companies Day with the launch 
of Swan TV, a new way for our Chief Executive to 
communicate with the Group.  Staff from across the 
Group will come together in July 2016 for our 2016 
Employee Event where we will develop the future Hearts 
and Minds programmes. 

Supporting staff to improve their health and wellbeing 
continues to be a key area of activity for our HR team 
and initiatives including our Health Matters magazine 
and weekly intranet articles on health and wellbeing have 
all contributed to reduced absence levels which remain 
lower than both UK and sector levels and have increased 
to 50% of employees having 100% attendance levels.

Equality and Diversity

We have continued to promote equality opportunities 
for staff through our Equality Scheme, which has been 
refreshed during the year. We held the largest ever 
Diversity Day with 78 staff from Swan and our repairs 
partner Axis and residents coming together to hear 
presentations on Honour Killings, Religion and Sexual 
Orientation and Dementia from knowledgeable speakers.  
We have focused on preparing for our Housing Diversity 
Network Accreditation which we hope to achieve in early 
16/17. Staff diversity remains a key indicator for progress 
in this area and at 31 March 2016 our people profile was 
26% black and minority ethnic, 60% women and 2% with 
a recognised disability.

Health and Safety 

The health and safety of our staff and residents continues 
to be of paramount importance. Staff completion 
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of mandatory courses around Health and Safety, 
regular meetings of our cross group Health and Safety 
committee and our Executive level Health and Safety 
Committee chaired by the Chief Executive together with 
the use of the award winning Safety Bank software have 
all continued to support a culture of health and safety 
across the Group.  

Safety Bank software, delivered in partnership with 
Safety Bank, was recognised at the Housing Innovation 
Awards as the “Most Innovative IT system or App”.  It 
enables our staff to immediately log any health and 
safety actions for example which are identified as part of 
a fire risk assessment or estate inspection and ensure 
that these actions are completed, thus saving time and 
ensuring issues are dealt with.  It ensures that a robust 
audit trail is available helping us ensure we comply with 
relevant legislation.

Future Developments

We see ourselves as a catalyst for regeneration in East 
London and Essex and continue to challenge ourselves 
to be the leading regeneration and development agency 
in these areas. We have continued to expand our 
development pipeline and we started 891 homes in the 
2015/16 financial year, compared with 454 in 2014/15, 
and we expect to complete at least 1,065 homes 

between 2018 and 2020.  Critically though, our focus 
is on delivering regeneration projects which transform 
large areas and enhance the lives of people living there. 
To ensure that we can continue to deliver new homes in 
the more challenging external environment we are also 
exploring modern methods of construction to ensure 
that in future we will have greater control over the 
construction and delivery of new homes.

We are looking forward to an ever more digital society. 
Whether we are talking to our customers to find out their 
Digital needs and aspirations through our Customer 
Access Project or delivering new websites for each of 
our Group companies, we understand that successful 
delivery of digital communications will be essential for 
future growth and success.

Our continued work to support our residents through 
Welfare Reform has ensured that we have maintained 
excellent rent collection levels and the swift response 
to the introduction of the 1% rent reductions has been 
followed by work to identify a further £4,000,000 of 
savings and additional income through our development 
activity without reducing the scale of our ambitions.   
As a result, we have been able to both deal with the 
challenges created by these changes and also take 
advantage of opportunities that have arisen, for example 
using our financially secure position to obtain further 
funding for both Blackwall Reach and Cambridge Road. 

Swan’s Community Development Officer, Terry 
Webb, was crowned ‘Resident Involvement 
Officer of the Year National Champion’ at the 
national TPAS (Tenant Participation Advisory 
Service) Award finals in July 2015. 

For the past two years, Terry has spearheaded 
an incredibly successful public health initiative 
targeting Swan residents living in Basildon and 
Thurrock with over 250 residents taking part. 
With Terry’s support, the NHS Vitality Health 
MOT initiative for the over 40s has resulted in 
more than 50% of participants being referred 
to their GP for a previously undiagnosed health 
problem – that’s over 100 people - hence Terry 
changes lives!

Terry said:

“I may have personally received this award 
but I also think it recognises the strong ethic of 
teamwork within Swan’s Resident Involvement 

Team as many of my projects involve working closely with my colleagues. I am proud to have worked 
for so many years in this community.”

Motivated people
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Key Risk Risk Mitigation
• Significant falls in property prices or a material slowdown 

in the housing market would have a detrimental effect on 
our business plan due to a reduction in the profits from the 
sale of new homes

• Robust appraisal process and prudent assumptions with 
regards to sales values

• Experienced sales and marketing team
• Regular options appraisals on scheme tenure mix

• Failure to comply with financial and other covenants in 
loan documentation as a result of inaccurate cash flow 
forecasting or other issues would have an adverse effect 
on our business plan

• Well established cash flow forecasting and business 
planning process

• Clear understanding of loan documentation and associated 
covenants

• Effective scenario planning including multi-variance 
analysis

• Government policy with regards to availability of capital 
grant may restrict development activities in the future

• Experience of developing without grant
• Ability to continue development with cross subsidy from 

the sale of private housing
• Robust appraisal process focused on the cash impact of 

development activities
• Government policy with regards to the rents we can charge 

or long periods of low inflation may have an adverse effect 
on our business plan

• We have modelled the impact of changes in rent levels in 
our business plan and we have put in place plans which 
will substantially mitigate the impact of these changes on 
our business plan. 

• Further changes to the Governments rent policy have been 
modelled in our stress testing of the business plan

• Significant increases in interest rates in the medium/long 
term may have an adverse effect on our business plan

• Business planning includes sensitivity analysis to model 
the impact of changes in key variables such as interest 
rates in isolation and when combined with other risks

• The changes to the benefits system as a result of welfare 
reform may have an adverse effect on rent arrears

• Detailed action plan in place to address the impact of 
Welfare Reform

• Welfare benefits advisors in post to provide support and 
advice to residents

• Clear understanding of the potential financial impact of 
Welfare Reform 

• The failure of a strategic partner could lead to a 
deterioration in service levels to residents or a delay in the 
delivery of development projects 

• Ongoing monitoring and review of the performance of 
strategic partners

• The failure to deliver one of our material development 
schemes on time and to budget could have an adverse 
effect on our business plan

• Robust, externally validated processes and procedures for 
our development activities

• Business planning includes sensitivities around increased 
costs and delays in delivery of material schemes

Effective management of these risks is given a high priority within Swan and we strive to ensure that appropriate risk 
mitigations and controls are in place. 

Risk Management 

Swan has a well-developed risk management system 
and an embedded culture of risk management.  Our Risk 
Management Strategy clearly defines our risk appetite 
and the role of the Board, Audit & Risk Committee, 
Managers and Staff.    

Through risk management we:

• embed risk assessment and risk management 
into the culture of the organisation

• carry out risk assessments on all departments 
and significant projects

• monitor the overall impact of risks to ensure 
that the overall level of risk remains within 
acceptable limits

• minimise losses, injury and damage and reduce 
the cost of risk

• ensure appropriate mitigating actions are taken 
to address identified risks

• review key risks at Board and Audit & Risk 
Committee

• review and report on the effectiveness of risk 
management and our internal controls annually 

The key risks to the successful achievement of our 
mission are set out below:
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Value for Money 

Swan’s Value for Money Strategy was refreshed in 
May 2016 and is central to delivering the organisation’s 
objectives and ensuring on-going compliance with 
the Value for Money Standard. Swan defines Value 
for Money as a focus on obtaining the best value from 
available resources to allow us to deliver better services, 
more homes and effective communities both in terms of 
quantity and quality and the social value provided.

Value for Money is considered throughout Swan’s 
governance structure. The Board has overall 
responsibility for delivering the Value for Money Strategy 
and ensuring its principles are applied in the delivery of 
services, strategic planning and investment decisions.  
Residents also have a vital role to play in assessing and 
enhancing Value for Money. Customer feedback is used 
to identify areas for improvement and to help learn from 
mistakes in service delivery.  

To assist in the delivery of the Value for Money Strategy, 
Swan has developed a Value for Money framework.  
The framework is split into eight key areas of activity, 
providing a structure for recording outcomes and testing 
whether the objectives of the strategy are being met.  

Swan understands that Value for Money should be 
delivered, assessed and evidenced in the context of 
meeting the organisation’s objectives. This means that 
what value looks like for Swan and its customers may 
be different to that of another provider. Having a proper 
understanding of the corporate strategy, purpose and 
priorities is essential to maintaining a robust assessment 
of Value for Money.  

Swan’s group structure incorporates a number of 
different business streams and includes commercial 
entities. Swan New Homes Ltd (trading as NU Living), 
Vivo Support Ltd and Hera Management Services 
Ltd, support Swan Housing Association and the Swan 
Foundation. This structure allows Swan to invest profits 
through gift aid to support Swan’s corporate objectives 
and offer enhanced services that might not otherwise be 
delivered.

The Value for Money story

Swan’s Value for Money ‘story’ is a great one.  The 
organisation’s structure maximises resources available 
for delivering the corporate mission, objectives and 
customer priorities. As a result, the impact Swan makes 
on the communities it serves is enhanced.

Through effective procurement and contract 
management, Swan is able to keep costs down 
and divert expenditure to activities that increase the 
social value of what the group does. In addition, the 
performance management arrangements in place mean 
that satisfaction levels are high and Swan can quickly 
respond with service improvements.

Swan have reacted positively to changes in the 
operating environment, striving to work smarter, finding 
innovative solutions and setting £1 million and £10 million 
challenges to find savings.

Swan has also delivered on the plans set out last year 
and a summary of our achievements in 2015/16 is 
included at the start of each section below.

Cumulative Gift Aid - delivered and planned from commercial activities
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Maximising the return on assets

During 2015/16 we:

• Maintained 100% decent homes
• Recalculated the net present value (NPV) of 

housing stock 

As a social housing provider, Swan understands that the 
return on housing stock is not only measured in terms of 
the rental value, but also the wider benefits good quality 
housing brings to communities.  

The Asset Management Strategy sets the course 
for how Swan will maintain and improve its existing 
housing stock over the next five years. The success of 
Swan’s approach is confirmed by customer feedback.  
Satisfaction with overall quality of home is currently at 
86% and ranks amongst the top 25% of social housing 
providers in London and the East (median = 80%).

Measuring the ‘return on assets’ is one way of assessing 
the current financial performance of housing stock.  At a 
headline level it is calculated by dividing annual operating 
surplus (profit) by the total value of the assets owned.  

The table above sets out the return achieved on Swan’s 
main stock types, all of which are in line with expectation.  
Return on general needs units fell slightly between 
2014/15 and 2015/16, whilst shared ownership and NHS 
keyworker both improved marginally.

Affordable social housing is at the core of Swan’s on-
going provision and is essential to the delivery of the 
corporate mission and objectives.  There is now however, 
far greater emphasis placed on financial viability and 
ensuring that housing stock meets local need.  The 
portfolio management strategy sets out how Swan will 
make the best future use and ensure value for money of 
its assets.  The strategy sets out options to rationalise 
properties where asset groups are not found to be 
cost effective or conducive to delivery of the corporate 
mission and objectives.

In conjunction with the return on assets calculation, 
Swan use Savills’ Asset Project Evaluation Model 
(APEM) to appraise housing stock.  During 2015/16 
Swan recalculated the APEM to reflect the 1% rent 

reduction and as a result, average NPV has dropped 
from £59,958 to £50,040. Savings to mitigate this 
however, have already been identified in the 2016/17 
budget.

In 2016/17 we plan to:

• Refresh the portfolio management strategy for 
another three years

• Continue to update and review the APEM and 
identify asset groups with low sustainability 
scores and / or NPV and consider rationalisation

• In particular consider stock swaps in areas / 
blocks where another landlord has a substantial 
presence

• Identify hard to let / hard to manage asset 
groups and consider rationalisation

• Continue our programme to maintain 100% 
decent homes and achieve energy efficiency 
targets 

Assessing comparative costs and 
performance

During 2015/16 we have:

• continued work to improve the repairs service
• increased expenditure on repairs and 

maintenance to deliver an enhanced standard
• significantly improved customer satisfaction, 

with levels now similar to that of 2013/14
• improved or sustained performance against the 

majority of key indicators
• continued to find efficiencies in our estate 

services to help drive down service charges and 
maintain affordability

Comparing Swan’s cost and performance against 
other social housing providers is essential for setting 
the context around whether value for money is being 
delivered or not. To do this, Swan participates in 
HouseMark’s annual core benchmarking service.  
Benchmarking assists Swan in understanding which 
areas are high or low cost and what good performance 

2014/15
Operating 

Surplus
Value of assets* Return on 

Assets %
£’000 £’000

General Needs 24,165 513,430 4.7%
Shared Ownership 1,148 54,131 2.1%
NHS Keyworker 1,716 50,634 3.4%

2015/16
Operating 

Surplus
Value of assets* Return on 

Assets %
£’000 £’000

26,658 578,878 4.6%
1,195 52,213 2.3%
1,907 48,913 3.9%

Return on assets

*Value of assets based on UK GAAP including FRS102 net book value which is cost less depreciation and excluding grant received
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looks like.  It informs the budget and target setting 
process and helps to determine what’s achievable.

Selecting an appropriate peer group to benchmark 
against is important for ensuring the outputs are relevant 
and as much as is possible, comparisons are made on a 
like for like basis.  Swan’s standard peer group is made 
up of 26 similar providers in London and the East with a 
stock size of between 5,000 and 15,000 properties.  

The tables below set out Swan’s cost and performance 
over the last three years compared to this peer group.  
When analysed alongside each other, Swan’s cost and 
performance benchmarking position is strong compared 
to peers.

In 2016/17 we plan to:

• build on improvements to customer satisfaction, 
particularly in relation to repairs

• complete service reviews of the repairs 
appointment service and legal fees

• implement the recommendations of income 
management service review

• find additional savings to free up cash for front-
line services

• identify further efficiencies in our caretaking 
schedules to help reduce estate services costs 
and service charges

• investigate lower ASB satisfaction results and 
review our approach to case management

• utilise the HCA’s new cost per unit analysis 
to complement our existing financial 
benchmarking

HouseMark benchmarking quartiles
Function (Total CPP) 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 Quartile 

one
Median Quartile 

four
Direction 
of travel

Major works and cyclical maintenance 
(planned)

£827 £820 £751 £1,481 £1,852 £2,432

Responsive repairs and void work (reactive) £483 £456 £452 £618 £799 £928
Rent arrears and collection £173 £179 £202 £112 £136 £154
Resident involvement £43 £46 £53 £42 £49 £70
Antisocial behaviour £62 £62 £59 £47 £62 £71
Tenancy management £92 £92 £101 £92 £125 £169
Lettings £47 £49 £52 £38 £54 £62
Housing management £418 £428 £468 £354 £448 £535
Estate services £189 £201 £250 £161 £206 £357
Overheads as a % of turnover 9.6% 10.5% 13.4% 8.5% 9.9% 10.9%
Overheads as a % of direct revenue costs 26.0% 29.5% 35.4% 17.6% 23.0% 27.5%

HouseMark benchmarking quartiles
Performance indicator 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 Quartile 

one
Median Quartile 

four
Direction 
of travel

Satisfaction with complaints handling 75.4% 74.8% 76.6% 54.0% 74.2% 66.4% 53.5%
Satisfaction with complaints outcome 68.2% 67.9% 70.1% 47.0% 66.9% 58.9% 48.6%
Average days to complete repairs 4.0 4.5 4.3 4.6 6.2 7.4 9.6
Repair appointments kept 95.91% 96.97% 99.04% 96.58% 98.96% 97.96% 91.81%
Repairs completed at first visit 96.5% 97.4% 95.5% 93.8% 94.4% 89.3% 85.0%
Satisfaction with repairs and maintenance* 74.3% 65.7% 75.8% 75.5% 81.9% 77.3% 73.0%
Satisfaction with quality of home* 86.1% 78.8% 80.4% 85.2% 85.6% 80.6% 76.0%
Average re-let time (standard voids) 14.5 17.1 16.9 16.8 19.2 24.0 28.8
Satisfaction with ASB case handling 71.4% 75.8% 78.6% 74.0% 83.0% 76.2% 65.8%
Satisfaction with ASB case outcome 70.0% 77.0% 73.0% 69.0% 83.1% 76.0% 59.1%
Current tenant arrears (net of HB) % of rent 
due

1.70% 1.76% 1.71% 1.55% 1.56% 1.72% 2.78%

Former tenants arrears % of rent due 0.32% 0.49% 0.96% 0.62% 0.91% 1.25% 1.78%

Satisfaction with value for money for rent* 77.1% 71.3% 80.3% 78.4% 82.7% 79.0% 75.5%
Satisfaction with overall services provided* 83.3% 74.6% 84.9% 83.5% 88.1% 83.4% 75.5%

Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4Key:*STAR
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HCA unit cost analysis

In addition to HouseMark’s benchmarking service, 
Swan has used the HCA’s new unit cost analysis to 
assess costs. The analysis is based on data submitted 
by housing associations as part of the annual FFR/FVA 
returns and is set out below. Swan’s position as a low 
cost provider across management and maintenance 
functions is backed up by the data. The higher headline 
social housing cost per unit is driven by ‘other’ costs and 
is affected by Swan’s structure and diversity. 

Within other costs is significant expenditure relating 
to management of the Forest Gate PFI contract, 
supporting people activity, property management and 
the development of affordable, shared ownership and for 
sale housing.  Whilst these activities generate turnover 
and consume resources, they are not related to the 

number of units counted in the calculation.  Total turnover 
for 2015/16 was £109.9m, of which just £57.2m was 
generated by social housing units.  

Adjusting the headline social housing CPU for supporting 
people and PFI contract activity only, brings the cost per 
unit down to £3.67k, slightly above the median for the 
sector.  

Swan’s location, operating in both South Essex and East 
London also has an impact and taking all the above 
factors into account, Swan would expect its 2015/16 cost 
per unit to fall closer to its quartile one / two HouseMark 
position.  The business plan forecasts a reduction in CPU 
over the next three years.   

** Note: Other costs include expenditure associated with supporting people activities and management of the Forest 
Gate PFI contract.  Adjusting for these reduces other social housing cost per unit down to 1.94.  The high cost 
relative to others in this area (and comparatively very low costs in others) reflects how Swan manages and allocates 
expenditure.  The basis of allocation has been changed in 2015/16 statutory accounts as part of the conversion to 
FRS102.

Effective procurement

Swan’s procurement strategy centres on utilising 
common suppliers and seeks to ensure that the group’s 
procurement activity delivers value for money, customer 
focus, rising standards, efficiency, social value and a 
standard pre-condition of the living wage.  

During 2015/16 we completed our procurement heath 
check action plan.  This work has helped strengthen 
Swan’s approach to procurement and complements the 
procurement strategy. 

All standard repairs and maintenance to Swan’s housing 
stock is delivered by the group’s repairs partner Axis 
Europe. The partnering contract with Axis is in its 
seventh year of a 14 year term and the length of this 
arrangement has numerous value for money benefits to 
Swan and its customers.  

The nature of the contract means that both parties 
are invested in the partnership, and allows for longer 
term service planning and a commitment to continuous 
improvement.  Swan have retained very little in terms 

Social housing cost per unit (£k)
Headline social 

housing
Management Service 

charge
Maintenance Major repairs Other costs

Swan 4.53 0.57 0.27 0.73 0.44 2.52**
Median 3.55 0.95 0.36 0.98 0.80 0.20

Looking back (savings gained)
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

£ £ £
Housing/Repairs and 
Maintenance

204,500 198,196 197.306

Facilities 
Maintenance/Utilities

37,249 55,351 31,500

Back office (Audit/
Insurance/Legal/H&S)

172,145 184,517 331,263

Total 413,894 438,064 560,069

Projecting forward (anticipated savings)
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

£ £ £
193,500 188,428 188,428

55,000 35,000 15,000

257,351 218,205 -

505,840 441,633 203,428

Total savings

£
1,170,357

229,100

1,163,471

2,562,928
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of the ‘client side’ function.  This speeds up processes, 
avoids duplication and keeps costs down.  Axis’ 
performance compares well to that of others in Swan’s 
peer group and this combined with the partnering 
arrangement means that on its largest operational 
contract, Swan are able to achieve value for money.  
Other procurement activity over the last year has 
included:

• New lift maintenance contract saving £115k over 
the term

• External gas consultant contract awarded with 
additional requirements added at no cost

• New mobile telephony and MFD contracts 
saving £46k and £45k respectively over the next 
three years

• Extended the grounds maintenance contract 
for two years, with additional work valued at 
£20k per year added at no cost

The table on the opposite page sets out Swan’s 
procurement savings over the last three years and 
anticipated savings going forward.  During 2015/16 
the projected savings of £560k were achieved.  The 
graphic at the bottom of this page sets out how this 
was reinvested in added value projects and service 
improvements.

In 2016/17 we plan to:

• Review our personal protective equipment (PPE) 
and merchandising costs

• Consolidate our energy costs to achieve savings 
that can be passed on to residents

• Utilise Laser buying group who are negotiating 
with water companies to enable consolidation 
of accounts.  If successful this will save time 
processing individual invoices and realise costs 
savings too.

Where procurement savings were spent in 2015/16
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Managing our finances

During 2015/16 we:

• worked to a zero based budget and challenged 
budget holders on their requests for 2016/17

• launched our £1m and £10m challenges
• engaged all staff in finding value for money 

savings
• completed our transition to the new FRS102 

financial reporting model

To ensure value for money in delivering services, Swan 
prioritises expenditure against the corporate mission 
and objectives. In addition, the group has a zero-
based approach to budget setting which helps to avoid 
unnecessary expenditure.  

In continuing to find savings, Swan has responded 
positively to the increasingly challenging operating 
environment for housing associations.  Mitigating the 
impact of the 1% rent reduction, on-going roll out of 
universal credit and protecting front-line services, the 
group launched its £1 million and £10 million challenges 
to staff during 2015/16.

In 2016/17 we plan to:

• deliver year one savings in respect of the £1m 
and £10m challenges

• undertake a reforecast after six months to 
ensure our financial plans are on track

• continue our zero-based approach to budget 
setting and engage budget holders in the 
process

Planning and funding

Swan’s approach to planning and funding is to ensure the 
on-going financial viability of the business plan, allocating 
resources to deliver the mission and objectives of the 
group’s corporate strategy as effectively as possible.  

Decisions on funding are made through the Group 
Investment Framework. This standardises assumptions 
used for interest rates, payback periods, discount rates 
etc. so that different projects can be appraised and trade-
offs considered on a consistent basis.  

In 2014/15 Swan restructured its debt in order to reduce 
on-going costs and maximise the value of the group’s 
assets.  As part of the restructure, Swan issued a 
£250m bond at a rate significantly lower than the original 
business plan assumption.  This equated to a saving of 
£1.3m per year, or £43m over the life of the bond.

During 2015/16, Standard and Poor’s annual report 
affirmed the group’s credit rating. This helps to confirm 
that the group has prudent financial plans in place and 
provides bond holders with an external assessment and 
reassurance of Swan’s ability to service its debt.

The graphic below sets out where Swan’s funding came 
from in 2015/16 and how it was spent in absolute cost 
terms. 



23 Swan Housing Association Limited Annual Report 2016

Value for Money (VfM) Summary

Investment in development and new 
business

During 2015/16 we:

• Increased the number of schemes / properties 
managed by Hera 

• Achieved a rating of ‘Good’ from the Care 
Quality Commission for services provided by 
Vivo

• Secured a further £3.7m of grants to develop 
affordable housing

• Generated £10.5m of gift aid from our 
commercial activities

• Invested £35.2m in development and 
regeneration activities

• Built 266 new social and affordable homes and 
144 for private sale

The development programme, specifically private sales 
of new build homes, generates the vast majority of profits 
to gift aid.  At the centre of Swan’s mission are its growth 
plans for increasing the supply of high quality affordable 
and private homes.  This activity significantly enhances 
the group’s ability to deliver against its objectives and 
generate value for the communities it serves.

Development has an important role to play in ensuring 
the group is fit for the future.  As part of this focus, Swan 
has set a target to achieve £10m of efficiencies over the 
next four years through reduced costs and increased 
profitability on its development and regeneration 
activities.  Already over £4 million of potential savings has 
been identified, relating largely to future procurement, 
pre-development/design and overheads. These 
opportunities will materialise as schemes are delivered.

The Group Investment Framework scrutinises the costs 
and benefits of each development project to ensure they 
fit with Swan’s mission and objectives.  The framework 
links closely with the wider business plan so that any 
investment has sound financial grounding and complies 
with the covenants of relevant funding agreements.  Key 
to deciding where to invest is establishing where Swan 
can make the greatest difference and add most value to 
the local community.

Swan takes an innovative approach to the challenges 
ahead and is exploring off-site manufacture.  This 
forward thinking initiative, where viable, will have 
considerable benefits for Swan’s development and 
regeneration programmes and deliver significantly 
increased value for money on the group’s investments.  

In 2016/17 we plan to:

• Secure a further £1.4m of grant funding
• Generate £4.7m of gift aid from our commercial 

activities
• Invest £84.9m in development and regeneration 

activities
• Build 6 new social and affordable homes and 

119 for private sale
• Develop our off-site manufacturing facility
• Mobilise construction at Cambridge Road, 

Repton Court Phase 2, Blackwall Reach Phase 
1B and Peachy House sites

• Submit planning applications and gain 
approval for Laindon Shopping Centre, 
Craylands and Blackwall Reach Phase 2

• Handover Oldchurch Phase 4 and Craylands 
Phase 1CF

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Complete 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Forecast

Social/affordable housing 62 30 247 339 6 29 113 148

Shared ownership 69 7 19 95 0 53 211 264
Private sale 44 33 144 221 119 61 391 571
Total 175 70 410 665 125 143 715 983
Gross costs £33.1m £49.3m £35.2m £117.6m

Units complete and forecast
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Resident and service user involvement

During 2015/16 we:

• developed our new Social Value and 
Engagement Strategy

• implemented TP Tracker to help monitor resident 
engagement

• supported the scrutiny panel’s review of 
graffiti and rubbish removal and implemented 
recommendations of the complaint service 
review

Swan recognises that in achieving its corporate mission 
and objectives, the group has a wider role than to simply 
provide affordable housing.  Increasingly, Swan is 
looking to enhance the broader social value it provides to 
communities.

Key to delivering the best quality services is 
understanding customer priorities and involving them 
in the decision making process.  Swan offers multiple 
opportunities for residents to engage, aimed at 
maximising the diversity of those who do.  The group 
provides a range of community development activities to 
help break down barriers to effective engagement.

The residents’ scrutiny panel undertakes detailed 
reviews of services and has a key role to play within the 
delivery of Swan’s Value for Money Strategy. In addition, 
four residents sit on Swan’s Operations Committee 
and therefore have direct input in the service delivery 
decision making process. Residents are also represented 
at key partnership meetings between Swan and Axis.

During 2015/16 Swan assessed the social return on 
investment (SROI) of the scrutiny panel and the provision 
of free health checks to residents in Essex.  

The overall social impact of the scrutiny panel’s activity 
during the year was £78k, and equates to £10 for every 
£1 invested.  This return was calculated on the basis of 
panel members engaging in regular volunteering and 
gaining confidence through the mentoring scheme.

The calculated social impact of the health checks of 
£158k was significant compared to Swan’s investment of 
under £1.5k.  In part, this was due to partners providing 
much of the resource and the calculation assuming an 
on-going improvement in health.  The project however, 
still represented a significant social value return.

In 2016/17 we plan to:

• implement the recommendations of the scrutiny 
panel review and support the panel to carry out 
further reviews

• deliver SwanFest, a refreshed format for the 
residents’ away day

• support the new Beechwood Village 
community trust

• assess the feasibility of calculating SROI for 
larger projects e.g. regeneration.

Improving services

Swan has a strong ethos of continuous improvement 
and this is embedded throughout the performance 
management framework.  The corporate mission and 
objectives cascade each of the operational strategies and 
form the basis for team plans and service improvement 
action plans.  This ensures a focused approach to 
decision making and helps to drive value for money.

During 2015/16 we have:

• continued making improvements to the repairs 
service

• carried out a service review of income 
management

• introduced call monitoring
• delivered phase two of our hearts and minds 

training programme for staff
• reviewed and published a new tenant 

handbook and service standards
• reduced the target for responding to complaints 

from 10 days to six
• introduced rent payment prediction software
• developed an involved resident training 

programme
• reviewed our services to older people
• updated our allocations policy and 

implemented monthly tenancies
• challenged managing agent costs to help drive 

down service charges.

Swan’s latest CSE standard accreditation report (March 
2016) highlighted the group’s strong partnerships, 
particularly with Axis, and the commitment to deliver high 
quality services to residents.  Compliance to the standard 
is an important independent test of services and the 
value they deliver to customers. It also helps Swan’s 
profile as a potential partner.

In 2016/17 we plan to:

• implement the 2016/17 striving for excellence 
programme

• extend call monitoring to a wider range of 
teams and other types of customer interaction

• further improve the repairs service, introducing 
‘live chat’ and promoting our portal and text 
service for reporting repairs

• carry out two service reviews on the repair 
appointment service and legal fees

• implement the recommendations of the income 
service review

• realign our performance framework to the new 
corporate strategy
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Conclusion and self-assessment

Value for money is embedded in Swan’s operational 
activity and decision making process, and is a cross-
cutting theme throughout the group’s strategy and policy 
framework.  Our strategy is clear on how we define value 
and sets out how it will be achieved, monitored and 
measured.  

Customers have a key role to play in this process.  The 
feedback they provide, and formal engagement at 
board level and through the scrutiny panel and resident 
consultative committees, helps to set Swan’s priorities.

We appreciate that value for money should be 
considered in the context of meeting an organisation’s 
objectives.  As such the group is purposely structured 
to best deliver our mission “to deliver effective services, 
enterprising solutions and exemplary homes and 
communities”.

Swan’s commercial subsidiaries gift aid profits to the 
housing association. In doing so they help to support 
value added services that might not otherwise be 
delivered, at the same time as increasing affordable 
housing and regenerating communities.

We have a detailed understanding of the financial and 
social returns on the group’s assets, and assess the 
financial performance and sustainability of housing stock, 
so that alternative delivery options that offer better value 
can be considered.

The performance management systems Swan has in 
place help to drive Value for Money and foster a culture 
of continuous improvement.  We regularly compare our 
costs and performance against others to identify where 
efficiencies could be found, or services improved.

Swan’s financial performance is sound and the group 
take a prudent approach to managing finances and 
planning funding. We recently issued a bond and 
restructured our debt to reduce the cost of servicing it by 
£1.3m per year.

The group has responded positively to changes in the 
operating environment, setting £1 million and £10 million 
challenges to achieve savings.  Through our procurement 
activity we strive to achieve Value for Money.  £1.2m of 
savings are forecast over the next three years, which will 
be reinvested in front line services. 

As a consequence of the evidence set out in this 
self-assessment Swan is successful in fulfilling the 
requirements of the value for money standard.

For our full Value for Money self-assessment please visit:
http://www.swan.org.uk/home/publications

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Approved by the Board on 19 July 2016           
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Report of the Board

The Board comprises nine members, two of which are 
Swan Executive Directors and the balance non-executive. 
The subsidiaries of the parent company have a broadly 
matching board structure to the parent, and the four 
Committees of the Board work Group-wide.

The Board adopted the National Housing Federation’s 
2015 Governance Code: Promoting Board Excellence for 
Housing Associations in place of the National Housing 
Federation’s 2010 Governance Code: Excellence in 
Governance in Autumn 2015 and continues to apply the 
National Housing Federation’s 2012 Code of Conduct.  
In accordance with the underlying “comply or explain” 
principle of such codes, this section of the report seeks to 
provide detail about:

• The Board and its Role
• Board Effectiveness
• Relations with Stakeholders
• How the Board Operates

The Board is committed to adherence to such codes and 
to high standards of conduct. Following its regular review, 
it can again report compliance with the codes during the 
year.  

The Board and its Role

Swan Housing Association Limited is a Registered 
Society under the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014. The Rules of the Association, which 
were refreshed in July 2013 as part of the revision of the 
governance structure, remain its principal document of 
constitution and regulate various matters including the 
Board, its powers and its role. The Board has adopted 
Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegations and Financial 
Regulations and has in place Committee Terms of 
Reference and an intra-Group agreement to further 
formalise and regulate matters between the parent, 
and the Group’s Committees and subsidiaries. A formal 
review of these documents is to take place in the Autumn 
as recommended by the 2015 Governance Code.

The Board’s role is to provide strategic direction and to 
govern, control and scrutinise the Association’s and the 
Group’s operations. At the year end, the Board comprised 
seven shareholder members and two Executive Director 
members. Changes in Board membership during the year 
are detailed on the opposite page. 

The Board and its Committees comprise members from 
a diverse range of backgrounds and with the range 
of skills, knowledge and experiences appropriate for 
their needs.  Membership of the Board is and will be 
reviewed regularly by the Board to ensure the mix of 
skills, knowledge and experience remains appropriate for 
the Group’s needs. Profiles of the non-executive Board 
members can be viewed on the Association’s website 
(www.swan.org.uk).  

Board membership is usually for two three year terms 
with a further three year extension possible only in 
exceptional circumstances.  Co-optees are appointed 
annually. Board members have formal service 
agreements, are expected to devote the necessary 
time to prepare for and attend all Board meetings and 
the meetings of those Committees of which they are 
members, together with appropriate training, appraisal 
and other review meetings. Members are paid as detailed 
in the Board Remuneration section below. 

The Group maintains directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance for its Board members and officers, which 
is renewed annually. The Board is given access to 
independent professional advice at the Group’s expense 
when the Board so requires.
 
Board Effectiveness

The Board receives regular updates on the performance 
of the Group’s businesses, the legal and the regulatory 
environments in which they operate and developments in 
their sectors through briefings included in Board papers 
or other presentations.

The Board completed its annual review of combined 
and individual member performance during the year. 
The outcomes from this process have been captured 
on the Board’s action plan.  Progress will be closely 
monitored by the Board. The Board from time to time 
gathers together for training and development activity 
and to consider wider issues such as succession 
planning. Individual members may undertake training 
or development activity as identified by them or in their 
annual evaluations.

The Board tours locations of the Group, enabling it to 
meet tenants and other service users, at least annually, 
and any new Board members have already undertaken 
this tour as part of their induction process.

Corporate Governance
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Swan Housing 
Association 
Main Board

Operations 
Committee

Development 
& New 

Business 
Committee

Audit & Risk 
Committee

Remuneration  
& 

Appointments
Committee

Valerie Owen OBE (Chair) 5/6 - 1/1 - 1/1
Derek Morrison (resigned 30/4/15) - 1/1 -

Sheila Lewis 6/6 - 6/6 - 1/1
Peter Baynham 5/6 - - 5/5 1/1
Marie Li Mow Ching 6/6 5/5 - - 0/1
John Synnuck 6/6 - - - -
Jamie Smith 6/6 - - - -
Alan Palmer 6/6 - - 5/5 -
Sukhvinder Kaur-Stubbs 6/6 - 4/6 - -
Parmjit Dhanda (appointed 8/5/15) 6/6 4/4 - - -

Relations with Stakeholders
The principal stakeholders of the Group are its tenants, 
service users, employees, local authorities, the Greater 
London Authority, the Homes and Communities Agency 
(HCA) and funders. Tenants are now represented 
through the Board’s Operations Committee, the 
responsibilities of which are detailed below in the 
section How the Board Operates. The operations of the 
Association are regulated primarily by the Social Housing 
Regulator, the HCA, but also in part by the Care Quality 
Commission, and the Board pays particular interest to 
regulatory reporting. As noted above, occasionally the 
Board has the opportunity to meet tenants and service 
users and obtains feedback from various tenant facing 
bodies including the resident scrutiny panel, which is not 
a Committee of the Board. 

Relations with employees are managed through 
the Executive Directors and through an Employee 
Representative Committee. Relations with funders are 
also primarily managed through the Executive Directors. 

How the Board Operates
The Board’s Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegations, 
Code of Conduct and Financial Regulations codify 

various matters for the better operation of the Group’s 
business and within which it expressly reserves specified 
significant matters for its sole decision. The Board meets 
regularly and has established a number of Committees 
to which the Board has delegated certain responsibilities 
under formal Terms of Reference.  The Board also meets 
with the Executive Directors regularly during the year.

The Board has continued to meet bi-monthly during the 
year. The Committees, other than the Remuneration 
and Appointments Committee, have also met five or six 
times each.  The meetings held during the year and the 
attendance of individual members at each is detailed 
below. Each entry is displayed as a fraction which 
has the number of meetings actually attended as the 
numerator and the number of meetings held and which 
could have been attended as the denominator.

Board and Committee members have on-line access to 
all papers for the appropriate meetings and hence can 
access them even if they have made notification that 
they are unable to attend.  Membership of Committees 
will continue to be reviewed and determined annually. 
Committee appointments involve non-Board members. 

Rashid Khilji - - - 5/5 -
Glyn Kyle - 5/5 - - -
Peter Brooks - 3/5 - - -
Darren Coan - 2/5 - - -
Michelle Richards - 5/5 - - -
Iphie Mottoh - 3/5 - - -
Gideon Amos - - 6/6 - -
David Leah (resigned 19/10/15) - - 3/4 - -
Ralph Luck - - 3/6 - -
Alexandra Morshed - 5/5 - - -
Doug McCann - - - 5/5 -

Committee members who are not Board members:

Report of the Board
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A brief overview of the constitution of the Committees 
is given below. Other panels and working groups are 
formed as considered appropriate to deal with particular 
issues as they arise.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee consists of four members, 
two of which are Board members and two independent. 
It plans to meet at least four times per year, although 
currently is meeting more frequently.  It receives reports 
from the external and internal auditors and reviews the 
processes for audit and risk management. It is chaired by 
a member of the Board who is not the Chair of the Board 
of Swan Housing Association.

Remuneration and Appointments 
Committee
This Committee now comprises four members, the Board 
Chair and the chairs of the three other Committees.  It 
continues to meet at least annually and considers Board 
structure and appointments, the working arrangements 
and remuneration of the Board, Chief Executive and 
Executive Directors. It also is now chaired by a member 
of the Board who is not the Chair of the Board of Swan 
Housing Association.

Operations Committee
The Operations Committee focuses on all aspects of 
the effective and efficient operational delivery of the 
Group’s services, ensuring feedback from tenants and 
other service users and promoting high standards. The 
Committee comprises eight members, two from the main 
Board, four tenants and two independents. It meets at 
least four times per year, although currently is meeting 
more frequently.

Development and New Business Committee 
This Committee oversees the Group’s development of 
new homes and explores and oversees new business 
streams or initiatives, outside the core Association 
housing rental and care service businesses, and 
other special projects. The Committee comprises 
five members, two from the main Board and three 
independents. It meets at least four times per year, 
although currently is meeting more frequently.

Declarations of Interest
All Board and Committee members are required to 
declare any interests annually and otherwise at meetings 
where potential issues may arise.  Individuals with a 
relevant interest are required to leave the meeting, 
unless requested otherwise by the Board/Committee 
membership, and in any event do not vote on the issue 
concerned.

Board Remuneration
The Board has determined, following advice and 
benchmarking, that it is appropriate, and continues to be 
appropriate, that Board members should be paid for their 
time and dedication. Committee members who are not 
Board members also receive fees for their services. The 
annual fees paid to Board members in position during the 
year are set out below. In addition, Board members are 
reimbursed for any expenses incurred in carrying out their 
duties and in attending Board or Committee meetings. 
The remuneration of those Board members who are also 
Executive Directors is included in note 4 to the financial 
statements.

Board member £
Valerie Owen 20,000
Peter Baynham 15,369
Sheila Lewis 10,000
Marie Li Mow Ching 10,000
Alan Palmer 10,000
Peter Baynham 10,000
Sukhvinder Kaur-Stubbs 10,000
Derek Morrison (resigned 30 April 2015) 833
Parmjit Dhanda (appointed 8 May 2015) 8,968
Committee members who are not Board members:
Rashid Khilji 5,000
Glyn Kyle 5,000
Peter Brooks 5,000
Darren Coan 5,000
Michelle Richards 5,000
Iphie Mottoh 5,000
Gideon Amos 5,000
David Leah 5,000
Ralph Luck 5,000
Doug McCann 5,000
Alexandra Morshed 5,000
Total 140,170

The total amount paid above represents 0.1% (2015: 0.1%) of Group 
annual turnover.

Executive Directors
 

The Executive Directors are listed on Page 4 and hold no 
interest in the share capital of any member of the Group. 
They act as Executives within the authority delegated by 
the Board. 

Particulars of the Group’s pension scheme (the Social 
Housing Pension Scheme), into which the Group pays 
contributions on behalf of the Executive Directors and 
other employees, are set out in Note 26 to the Financial 
Statements.

Report of the Board
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Board’s statement on the annual review 
of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control systems
Particular emphasis has been placed during the year 
on the HCA’s new Regulatory Framework which applied 
from April 2015. Various reports received by the Board 
provide it with assurance that the three Economic and 
four Consumer standards laid out in the Framework 
are met. Whilst the Group previously stress tested the 
Group’s Business Plans and had in place assets & 
liabilities registers, further work has been undertaken 
in these areas given the assurance they provide to the 
Board that risks are being appropriately managed. The 
Board is pleased to report that the In Depth Assessment 
undertaken by the HCA during the year led to the 
confirmation of the Group’s G1/V1 Governance and 
Financial Viability ratings. 

Statement of Compliance
In accordance with the requirements of the Accounting 
Direction for private registered providers of social housing 
(2015), the Board certify that Swan Housing Association 
Limited has complied with the HCA’s Governance and 
Financial Viability standard, and continues to explore 
ways to streamline and improve the means by which 
it receives assurance, including for example by the 
introduction of a centralised compliance calendar 
covering the many recurring legal, regulatory and other 
reporting obligations of the Group.

In preparing this Strategic review and Board report, the 
Board has followed the principles set out in the Statement 
of Recommended Practice: Accounting for registered 
social housing providers (SORP 2014).

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility, 
applicable to all organisations within the Group, for 
establishing and maintaining the whole system of internal 
control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is designed to manage, 
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and to provide reasonable 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.  

The process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Group is ongoing, has 
been in place throughout the period commencing 1 April 
2015 up to the date of approval of the report and financial 
statements.

Key elements of the control framework include:

• Board approved terms of reference and 
delegated authorities for board committees

• clearly defined management responsibilities 
for the identification, evaluation and control of 
significant risks

• robust strategic and business planning processes, 

with detailed financial budgets and forecasts
• formal recruitment, retention, training and 

development policies for all staff
• established authorisation and appraisal 

procedures for significant new initiatives and 
commitments

• a sophisticated approach to treasury 
management which is subject to review each 
year

• regular reporting to the appropriate committee 
on key business objectives, targets and 
outcomes

• Board approved whistle-blowing, anti-bribery, 
anti-theft and corruption policies

• Board approved fraud policies, covering 
prevention, detection and reporting, together 
with recoverability of assets

• regular monitoring of loan covenants and 
requirements for new loan facilities.

The Group currently has various systems in place to 
record its assets and liabilities. We have brought the 
information from these systems together into a single 
assets and liabilities register.  We have undertaken 
further work in the year to fully integrate the register 
into our processes and systems so that it is kept up to 
date easily and becomes part of the way we work.  Our 
internal auditors, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP, 
will be reviewing the register in the forthcoming year to 
provide further assurance to the Board.

Audit Committee  
The Board has a designated Group Audit & Risk 
Committee; the terms of reference for which reflect the 
Housing Corporation’s good practice guide ‘Improving 
the effectiveness of Audit Committees’. The meetings are 
attended by the Deputy Chief Executive, Senior Finance 
Staff and other Directors as required.

This Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems 
of internal controls and reporting its conclusions to the 
Board, receiving reports from both the internal and 
external auditors.  
Internal Audit Function
The Group purchases an internal audit service. This work 
has been carried out in accordance with the Institute of 
Internal Auditors’ Standards and Guidance.

The internal auditor reports annually to the Group Audit 
& Risk Committee on the system of internal controls, with 
an opinion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of key 
internal control systems.  The internal auditor attends 
the Group Audit and Risk Committee to present reports 
and to report on management progress in implementing 
agreed recommendations.  

Report of the Board
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The internal audit is planned, based on the results of 
an Audit Needs Assessment.  A rolling programme is 
undertaken to cover the whole of the Group’s system of 
control.

External Audit
The work of the external auditors has been conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland) and their audit opinion is contained within the 
financial statements. 

The terms of engagement of the external auditors 
provides that weaknesses in the structure of accounting 
systems and internal controls; inappropriate accounting 
policies and practices including non compliance with 
legislation, accounting standards and other regulations 
would be highlighted if identified as part of the normal 
audit work.

Any significant weaknesses in internal controls identified 
are reported to the Group Audit and Risk Committee and 
an action plan to address the weakness is agreed. No 
serious control weaknesses have been identified this 
year.

Auditors
The auditors, Grant Thornton UK LLP, will be deemed to 
be reappointed in accordance with section 93 of the Co-
Operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.

Quality Management Systems/Performance 
Indicators
During the year the Group has continued to comply with 
the criterion for ISO 9001:2008 and 14001; adherence 
to this quality framework ensures that procedures used 
within the Group are developed and applied consistently.

The Group has successfully complied with the Customer 
Service Excellence standard, demonstrating its continued 
commitment to Customer Care.  

The Group continues to maintain its Investors in People 
accreditation: a business improvement tool designed 
to advance an organisation’s performance through its 
people and continuous improvement. 

Statement of Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is responsible for preparing the report and 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Co-Operative and Community Benefit Societies 
legislation requires the Board to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Board have elected to prepare the financial statements 
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards and applicable laws). Under the Co-Operative 
and Community Benefit Societies legislation the Board 

must not approve the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs and surplus or deficit of the Association and Group 
for that period. In preparing these financial statements, 
the Board are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently

• make judgments and accounting estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent

• state whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards and the Statement of Recommended 
Practice (SORP) Accounting by Registered 
Housing Providers Update 2014, have been 
followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Group and Association will 
continue in business.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Group and Association 
and enable it to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Co-Operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 and the Accounting Direction for private registered 
providers of social housing (2015). It is also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

The Board members are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Group’s websites. Legislation in 
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

In so far as each of the Board members is aware:

• there is no relevant audit information of which 
the Group’s auditors are unaware

• the Board members have taken all steps that 
they ought to have taken to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the auditors are aware of that 
information.

Report of the Board

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Approved by the Board on 19 July 2016           
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We have audited the financial statements of Swan 
Housing Association Limited for the year ended 31 March 
2016 which comprise the consolidated and Association 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 
and Association statement of changes in reserves, the 
consolidated and Association statement of financial 
position, the consolidated statement of cash flows and 
the related notes.   

The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland.

This report is made solely to the housing association’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with sections 87(2) 
and 98(7) of the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014.  Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the housing association’s 
members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the housing  
association and the housing association’s members, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

Respective responsibilities of the board and 
auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of 
Responsibilities of the Board set out on the opposite 
page, the Board is responsible for the preparation of 
financial statements which give a true and fair view. Our 
responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial 
statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial 
statements is provided on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the Association’s 
affairs and Group affairs as at 31 March 2016 
and of the Group’s and Association’s income 
and expenditure for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and

• comply with the requirements of the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 and the Accounting Direction for private 
registered providers of social housing (2015)

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:

• the Association has not kept proper accounting 
records, or a satisfactory system of control over 
its transactions has not been maintained; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the books of account; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we need for our audit.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
Cambridge, England
9th August 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Valerie Owen OBE
Chair

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Jamie Smith
Company Secretary

Company Number: 28496R

The consolidated results relate wholly to continuing activities.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 19 July 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Note 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Turnover 2&3 109,923 82,303

Operating costs 2&3 (76,063) (52,977)

Operating surplus 2&3 33,860 29,326
Deficit on sale of housing assets 6 (323) (1,554)

Interest receivable 7 125 95

Interest payable and similar charges 8 (16,631) (15,543)

Loan capital restructuring costs 8a - (23,053)

Interest payable and financing costs (16,631) (38,596)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments (5,877) (26,284)

Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before taxation 9 11,154 (37,013)
Tax credit/(charge) on surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities 10 - -

Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities after taxation 11,154 (37,013)

Statements of Comprehensive Income
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Association Statement of Comprehensive Income

Valerie Owen OBE
Chair

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Jamie Smith
Company Secretary

The Association’s results relate wholly to continuing activities.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 19 July 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Company Number: 28496R

Note 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Turnover 2&3 79,086 73,184   

Operating costs 2&3 (45,986)  (44,218)  

Operating surplus 2&3 33,100 28,966
Deficit on sale of housing assets 6 (323) (1,554) 

Interest receivable 7 1,035     950

Interest payable and similar charges 8 (16,625)   (15,538)

Loan capital restructuring costs 8a - (23,053)

Interest payable and financing costs (16,625) (38,591)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments (5,877) (26,284)

Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before tax 9 11,310 (36,513)
Tax on surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities 10 - -

Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities after taxation 11,310 (36,513)

Statements of Comprehensive Income
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Reserves     

Share Capital

£’000

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve
£’000

Revaluation 
reserve

£’000

Total

£’000
Balance as at 1 April 2014 - 49,516 180,986 230,502

Total comprehensive income for the 
year

- (37,013) - (37,013)

Transfer from revaluation reserve to 
income and expenditure reserve

- 2,927 (2,927) -

Balance as at 31 March 2015 - 15,430 178,059 193,489
Total comprehensive income for a 
year

- 11,154 - 11,154

Transfer from revaluation reserve to 
income and expenditure reserve

- 3,065 (3,065) -

Balance as at 31 March 2016 - 29,649 174,994 204,643

Statements of Changes in Reserves

Association Statement of Changes in Reserves

Share Capital

£’000

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve
£’000

Revaluation 
reserve

£’000

Total

£’000
Balance as at 1 April 2014 - 54,267 180,986 235,253

Total comprehensive income for the 
year

- (36,513) - (36,513)

Transfer from revaluation reserve to 
income and expenditure reserve

- 2,927 (2,927) -

Balance as at 31 March 2015 - 20,681 178,059 198,740
Total comprehensive income for the 
year

- 11,310 - 11,310

Transfer from revaluation reserve to 
income and expenditure reserve

- 3,065 (3,065) -

Balance as at 31 March 2016 - 35,056 174,994 210,050
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Note 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 11 825 843
Tangible fixed assets - housing properties 12 703,738 685,270
Other tangible fixed assets 13 2,400 2,996

706,963 689,109

Current assets
Properties held for sale and work in progress 15 40,906 54,406
Debtors due within one year 16a 14,492 18,581
Debtors due after one year 16b 34,378 32,976
Cash at bank and in hand 14,853 20,109

104,629 126,072

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17 (37,522) (34,650)
Net current assets 67,107 91,422
Total assets less current liabilities 774,070 780,531

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (563,890) (582,145)
Provision for liabilities 26 (5,537) (4,897)
Total net assets 204,643 193,489

Capital and reserves -
Share capital - -
Income and expenditure account 29,649 15,430
Revaluation reserve 174,994 178,059
Total reserves 204,643 193,489

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 19 July 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen OBE
Chair

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Jamie Smith
Company Secretary

Statements of Financial Position
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 19 July 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen OBE
Chair

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Jamie Smith
Company Secretary

Note 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets - housing properties 12 709,135 690,558
Other tangible fixed assets 13 2,392 2,986
Investment in subsidiaries 14 8,762 14,312  

720,289 707,856  

Current assets
Properties held for sale 15 16,196 32,392   
Debtors due within one year 16a 15,566 16,877    
Debtors due after one year 16b 33,566 32,090 
Cash at bank and in hand 14,314 20,003

79,642 101,362

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17 (20,479)     (23,530)
Net current assets 59,163 77,832
Total assets less current liabilities 779,452 785,688

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (563,865) (582,051)  
Provision for liabilities 26 (5,537) (4,897)
Total net assets 210,050 198,740

Capital and reserves
Share capital - - 
Income and expenditure account 35,056 20,681
Revaluation reserve 174,994 178,059
Total reserves 210,050 198,740

Association Statement of Financial Position
Statements of Financial Position
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Note 2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities A 47,545 24,686

Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (17,455) (45,367)
Acquisitions (49) -
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 5,611 4,153
Grants received 3,685 11,683
Grants repaid - (1,589)
Interest received 125 95

(8,083) (31,025)

Cash flow from financing activities
Interest paid (17,611) (37,033)
New secured loans - 148,814
Repayments of borrowing (27,107) (105,700)

44,718 6,081

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (5,256) (258)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 20,109 20,367

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14,853 20,109

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Surplus for the year 11,154 (37,013)
Add back non-cash items:
Depreciation 7,099 6,985
Increase in debtors 2,687 (2,232)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 4,709 (1,494)
Carrying amount of tangible fixed asset disposals 575 1,455
Interest payable 16,631 38,596
Interest received (125) (95)
Movement in fair value of financial instruments 5,877 26,284
Movement in work in progress and properties for sale (1,062) (7,800)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 47,545 24,686

A. Reconciliation of operating surplus to net cash inflow from operating activities

Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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The financial statements of the Group and Association 
have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS102) and the 
Statement of Recommended Practice for Registered 
Social Landlords 2014 (Housing SORP) and comply with 
the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing 2015.

This is the first year in which the financial statements 
have been prepared under FRS 102. Note 28 provides an 
explanation of the transition.   

The financial statements are presented in sterling and 
rounded to the nearest thousand (£‘000).

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, its current financial 
position and factors likely to affect its future development 
are set out within the Strategic Report. The Group 
has long term debt facilities in place which provide 
adequate resources to finance committed regeneration 
and development projects, along with the Group’s day 
to day operations. The Group also has a long-term 
business plan which shows that it is able to service these 
debt facilities whilst continuing to comply with lenders’ 
covenants.

On this basis, the Board has a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a 
period of at least twelve months after the date on which 
the report and financial statements are signed. For this 
reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
the financial statements.

Group structure and basis of consolidation

Swan Housing Group (Group) came into existence 
in 1994.  The Group is required by the Co-operative 
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 to prepare 
consolidated accounts.  The Group financial statements 
incorporate the financial statements of the parent, Swan 
Housing Association Limited, and its subsidiaries. 

The results of businesses acquired or disposed of in the 
year are consolidated from or up to the effective date of 
acquisition or disposal respectively. The net assets of 
businesses acquired are incorporated in the consolidated 
accounts at their fair values at the date of acquisition. 
Transactions and balances between Group companies 
are eliminated. 

Basis of accounting

Significant judgements and estimates

The following are the significant management judgements 
made in applying the accounting policies of the Group 
that have the most significant effect on the financial 
statements.

The individual accounts of Swan Housing Association 
Limited have adopted the following disclosure 
exemptions:

a) The requirement to present a statement of cash flows 
and related notes as it is the parent of the Swan Housing 
Group which prepares publicly available consolidated 
financial statements and the Company is included in the 
consolidation.
b) Financial instrument disclosures, including the 
categories of financial instrument; items of income, 
expense, gains or losses relating to financial instruments 
and exposure to and management of financial risks.

Impairment

From October 2016, the Association will reduce social 
housing rents by 1% per annum and will continue to do 
so in each year until 2019/20 in accordance with the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016. Despite the actions 
being taken to mitigate the impact of the rent reductions, 
compliance with the new rent regime will result in a loss 
of net income for certain social housing properties. This is 
a trigger for impairment.

As a result, we estimated the recoverable amount of the 
Association’s housing properties as follows:

• determined the level at which a recoverable amount 
is to be assessed, the cash generating unit (CGU) 
level was determined to be an individual scheme

• estimated the recoverable amount of the CGU
• calculated the carrying amount of the CGU and
• compared the carrying amount to the recoverable 

amount to determine if an impairment has occurred

Based on this assessment, we calculated the 
Depreciated Replacement Costs (DRC) using appropriate 
construction costs and land prices. Comparing this to the 
carrying amount of each scheme, we concluded that no 
schemes were impaired.
Financial instrument classification

The Group’s loans are required to be classified as either 
basic or non basic financial instruments in accordance 
with the conditions set out under FRS102 section 11.9. 
Management have concluded that two of the Group’s 
loans should be reported as non-basic. Both include an 
embedded mandatory swap payment on termination of 
the loan which results in the return to the lender being 
a combination of a positive fixed rate and a negative 
variable rate (as part of the notional swap value) which is 
not permitted by FRS102 11.9a (iv).

Legal Status

The Association is registered under the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and is a registered 
housing association.

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Principal accounting policies
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1. Principal accounting policies (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Structure     0.80% 
Bathrooms     3.33%
Kitchens      5.00%
Electrics     3.33%
Boiler      6.66%
Windows     3.33%
Central Heating                 2.50%

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the difference between the cost of an 
acquired entity or business over the aggregate of the 

The Group’s remaining loans contain a prepayment 
option which may result in a compensation payment from 
the lender. Management have assessed this prepayment 
option against the condition set out in FRS102 11.9b 
which states that for a loan to be classified as basic 
there should be no contractual provision that results in 
the holder losing the principal amount or any interest 
attributable to current or prior periods. Management have 
concluded that the loans are basic on the basis that the 
repayment relates to future interest payments and not the 
repayment of the principal amount or interest that is due.

Certain loans include a margin which ratchets over the 
life of the loan and a judgement made considering how 
this will be taken into account in calculating amortised 
cost for the basic instruments. Loans which were in place 
on transition were refinanced during 2015, in the period 
post transition to FRS102.  Management have assessed 
this refinance against the conditions set out in FRS102 
11.37 and deemed the modifications non substantial 
from both a qualitative and quantitative perspective.  Any 
differences arising on recognition of these non substantial 
modifications were accounted for by amending the 
effective interest rate.

Estimation uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that 
have the most significant effect on recognition and 
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
is provided below. Actual results may be substantially 
different.

Useful lives of depreciable assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives 
of depreciable assets at each reporting date based on 
the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these 
estimates may relate to technological obsolescence and 
changes to decent home standards which may require 
more frequent replacement of key components.

Pension deficit obligation
Management’s estimate of its closed defined benefit 
pension deficit obligation is based on its current 
contractual obligation to the Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS). The funding agreement for past deficits 
requires additional payments until 2026. The present 
value of this obligation, which has been calculated using 
a discount rate of 3.625%, was £5.3m at the date of 
transition and £5.5m as at 31 March 2016.

Fair value measurement
Management utilises the services of a specialist 
treasury advisor to calculate the fair value of its financial 
instruments. Fair value measurements were applied to 
two loans in the year. The valuation techniques include 
discounted cash flow pricing models with observable 
inputs. The most significant inputs into those models are 
interest rate yield curves, developed from publicly quoted 
rates and market available information. All valuations 
have been compared to similar market transactions or 

fair value of that entity’s identifiable assets and liabilities.  
Positive goodwill is shown on the Statement of Financial 
Position as an asset and is amortised evenly over its 
estimated useful economic life of 20 years. In addition to 
systematic amortisation, the book value is written down 
to recoverable amount when any impairment is identified.

Investments

Investments represent amounts subscribed as share 
capital to, or on-lent by the Association to its subsidiaries 
under the Group’s internal financing arrangements 
and are stated at cost less impairment in the individual 
financial statements.

Housing properties cost and depreciation

Completed general needs and supported housing 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes 
the cost of acquiring land and buildings, development 
on-costs and interest charges incurred during the 
development period.

Works to existing properties which replace a component 
that has been treated separately for depreciation 
purposes, along with works that result in an increase in 
net rental income over the lives of the properties, thereby 
enhancing the economic benefits of the assets, are 
capitalised as improvements.

The Group depreciates the major components of its 
general needs and supporting housing properties on a 
straight line basis, at the following annual rates:

alternative third-party pricing services to ensure current 
market conditions are properly represented. The fair 
value of the two non basic financial instruments as at 31 
March 2016 was £121.6m. 

Movements in fair value between periods are exclusively 
due to changes in observable inputs, which can shift 
due to changes in demand and supply in public market 
rates and market information, and due to time factor in 
the above instruments’ pricing in a discounted cash flow 
pricing model.

Principal Accounting Policies
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Freehold offices 0.8% on cost
Office equipment and fittings 20% on cost

Computer equipment 25% on cost

Housing properties under construction are stated at cost 
and are transferred to completed properties once they 
are available for letting.  No depreciation is provided on 
housing properties under construction.

Where properties that were held at revaluation prior to 
the transition to FRS102 are sold, the element of deemed 
cost on disposal that is attributable to revaluation of the 
property is transferred from the revaluation reserve to the 
income and expenditure reserve.   

For other tangible fixed assets, depreciation is charged 
on a straight line basis over the expected economic 
useful lives of the assets at the following annual rates:  

Development on-costs
Costs associated with development projects are 
capitalised where they are directly attributable to 
bringing the properties into working condition for their 
intended use. Such costs generally include professional 
fees, directly attributable staff salary costs incurred in 
administering the development programme and loan 
interest attributable to the scheme.  Costs incurred on 
schemes which are identified as abortive are written off 
in the year in which the scheme is classified as abortive.

Lease obligations

Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements 
which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership, they are classified as finance leases and 
are treated as if they had been purchased outright. 
The amount capitalised is the present value of the 
minimum lease payment during the term of the lease. 
The corresponding leasing commitments are shown as 
obligations to the lessor. Rentals paid under operating 
leases (including those paid under temporary social 
housing leases) are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis over the 
lease term.

Properties for sale

Shared ownership first tranche sales, completed 
properties for outright sale and property under 
construction are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour 

and direct development overheads. Net realisable value 
is based on estimated sales price after allowing for all 
further costs of completion and disposal.

Work in progress consists of land and build costs 
incurred on current developments. This is held at the 
lower of cost or estimated selling price less costs to 
complete and sell.

Debtors

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price 
less any impairment. A full provision is made against 
former tenant arrears and a phased percentage provision 
is made against current tenant balances with a maximum 
of 75% for balances outstanding for more than 20 weeks.

Creditors

Short term creditors are measured at the transaction 
price.

Government grants
Government grants include grants receivable from the 
Homes and Communities Agency, local authorities and 
other government organisations. Government capital 
grants received prior to the transition to FRS102 have 
been accounted for under the performance method 
and recognised as income. Capital grants for housing 
properties received post transition are accounted 
for under the accruals method within creditors and 
recognised in income over the useful life of the property 
structure.

Social Housing and other capital development grants 
may be repayable under certain circumstances, primarily 
following the sale of a property.  Provision for repayment 
in the Recycled Capital Grant Fund is made in the 
Statement of Financial Position when properties which 
have previously received grant funding are sold.

Grants relating to revenue are recognised as income over 
the same period as the expenditure to which they relate 
once reasonable assurance has been gained that any 
conditions associated with the grant have been met.

Pensions

Swan Housing Association Limited participates in a 
closed multi-employer defined benefit scheme, the 
Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS). It has not 
been possible to identify the share of underlying assets 
and liabilities belonging to individual participating 
employers therefore the scheme is accounted for as a 
defined contribution scheme.  The charge to expenditure 
represents the employer contribution payable to the 
scheme for the accounting period. 

Contributions payable from the Association to the SHPS 
under the terms of its funding agreement for past deficits 
are recognised as a liability on a discounted basis.

Swan Housing Association Limited and Swan New 
Homes Limited currently operate defined contribution 
benefit schemes for active members.

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Principal accounting policies (continued)

Expenditure on shared ownership properties is split 
proportionally between current and fixed assets based 
on the element relating to expected first tranche sales. 
The first tranche proportion is classed as a current asset 
and the related sales proceeds are included in turnover. 
The remaining element is classed as a fixed asset and 
included in housing properties at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation on a straight line basis over the life of the 
structure and impairment losses.

Completed NHS keyworker and properties held under 
finance leases are stated at cost less depreciation which 
is charged on a straight line basis over the lease term.
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Financial instruments

Financial instruments which meet the criteria of a basic 
financial instrument as defined in section 11 of FRS 102 
are accounted for under an amortised cost model. The 
effective interest rate method, which applies the interest 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
flows to the carrying amount of the financial instrument at 
initial recognition, has been used to calculate amortised 
cost. Any related fees and transaction costs are also 
amortised using this method.

Loan modifications are assessed on a case by case 
basis and where modifications are deemed to be 
substantial the instrument is derecognised. Where 
modifications are considered to be non substantial they 
are accounted for in accordance with section 11.

Non basic financial instruments are recognised at fair 
value using a valuation technique with any gains or 
losses being reported in surplus or deficit. At each year 
end, the instruments are revalued to fair value, with the 
movements posted to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

The Group and Association have not adopted hedge 
accounting for financial instruments.

Loan issue costs

Costs in relation to the issuance of basic debt 
instruments are amortised over the life of the instrument. 
Costs in relation to non basic debt instruments are 
expensed as incurred. The premium arising on the issue 
of the bond, is being spread evenly over the life of the 
bond, with a resulting increase in finance costs.

Provisions for liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the obligation.

The Group recognises a provision for annual leave 
accrued by employees as a result of services rendered in 
the current period, and which employees are entitled to 
carry forward and use in the next accounting period. The 
provision is measured at the average salary cost payable 
for the period of absence.

Prior year adjustments

Prior year adjustments are made for material adjustments 
arising from changes in accounting policies and for the 
correction of errors in accordance with FRS102 section 
10.

Turnover

Turnover comprises rental income receivable in the year, 
income from shared ownership first tranche sales, sales 
of properties built for sale, unitary charge income from 
a private finance initiative and other services included 
at the contracted or invoiced value (excluding VAT 
chargeable) of goods and services supplied in the year 
and grants receivable in the year.

Rental income is recognised from the point when 
properties under development reach practical completion 
or otherwise become available for letting, net of any 
voids. Income from first tranche sales and sales of 
properties built for sale is recognised at the point of 
legal completion of the sale. Income from land sales is 
recognised on the unconditional exchange of contracts. 
Unitary charge income is recognised in accordance with 
the financial close model which apportions the income 
between the Statement of Comprehensive Income for 
housing management services and the Statement of 
Financial position for the income accrued during the 
construction phase of the contract.

Gift aid received in Swan Housing Association Limited 
from its subsidiaries is recognised as other income in the 
Association and eliminated on consolidation.

Impairment

Housing properties are assessed for impairment 
indicators annually. Where an indicator of impairment 
is identified an assessment is undertaken to compare 
a scheme’s carrying amount to its recoverable amount. 
Where the carrying amount of a scheme exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the scheme is written down to its 
recoverable amount. The resulting impairment loss is 
recognised as operating expenditure.

Interest

Interest is recognised as income when receivable.  
Interest payable is accrued daily. Interest on the net 
borrowing of the Group as a whole is capitalised to the 
extent that the borrowing relates to development costs 
less capital grants received in relation to incomplete 
properties under construction or refurbishment. Other 
interest is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the year.

Taxation

Current tax is recognised for the amount of corporation 
tax payable in respect of the taxable surplus for the 
current or past reporting periods using the rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted 
at the reporting date. As a result of the Association’s 
status as a charity, the Association is largely exempt 
from corporation tax. The Association’s subsidiaries 
are subject to corporation tax, but may make gift aid 
donations to the Association which reduces their 
liabilities to corporation tax.
 

Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing 
differences at the reporting date, except as indicated. 
Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that they will be recovered against the 
reversal of deferred tax liabilities or future taxable profits. 

Deferred tax is calculated using the rates and laws 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date that are expected to apply to the reversal of the 
timing difference. Deferred tax liabilities are presented 

1. Principal accounting policies (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements
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1. Principal accounting policies (continued)

42

Notes to the Financial Statements

in provisions for liabilities and deferred tax assets in 
debtors. Such assets and liabilities are only offset where 
the group has a legal right of set off and relate to the 
same tax authority and taxable entities.

VAT

The Association and the majority of its subsidiaries 
are included in a Group VAT registration in the name 
of Swan Housing Association Limited. The majority of 
the Association’s income, being rents, is exempt for 
VAT purposes, but other Group members generate 
taxable income. This combination gives rise to a partial 
exemption calculation.  Expenditure for non-taxable 
activities is therefore shown inclusive of VAT and the 
input VAT recovered is credited against operating costs.  
Expenditure on taxable activities is shown exclusive of 
VAT. The balance of VAT payable or recoverable at the 
year end is included as a current liability or asset. 

Reserves

The Group establishes reserves for specific purposes 
where their use is subject to external restrictions and 
designated reserves where reserves are earmarked for a 
particular purpose.

Revaluation Reserves

The difference on transition to FRS102 between the 
fair value of housing properties and the historical cost 
carrying value is credited to the revaluation reserve.
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2. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by class 
of business

Turnover 
£’000

Operating costs 
£’000

Surplus/ (deficit) 
£’000

Income and expenditure
From social housing lettings (see note 3) 57,267 (27,507) 29,760
Other social housing activities:
Supporting People contract income 2,406 (2,849) (433)
Management services - (8,665) (8,665)
First tranche shared ownership sales 1,039 (455) 584
Forest Gate Private Finance Initiative 6,633 (5,622) 1,011
Other 425 (388) 37

10,503 (17,979) (7,476)
Activities other than social housing
Development activities 42,153 (30,577) 11,576

109,923 (76,063) 33,860

Group 2016

Turnover 
£’000

Operating costs 
£‘000 

Surplus/ (deficit) 
£’000

Income and expenditure
From social housing lettings (see note 3) 54,171 (27,142) 27,029
Other social housing activities:
Supporting People contract income 2,104 (2,780) (676)
Management services - (6,001) (6,001)
First tranche shared ownership sales 3,904 (2,701) 1,203
Forest Gate Private Finance Initiative 6,217 (5,053) 1,164
Other - (41) (41)

12,225 (16,576) (4,351)
Activities other than social housing
Development activities 15,907 (9,259) 6,648

82,303 (52,977) 29,326

Group 2015

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Turnover 
£’000

Operating costs 
£‘000 

Surplus/ (deficit) 
£’000

Income and expenditure
From social housing lettings 57,267 (27,507) 29,760
Other social housing activities:
Supporting People contract income 2,406 (2,849) (443)
Group management services 500 (9,165) (8,665)
First tranche shared ownership sales 1,039 (455) 584
Forest Gate Private Finance Initiative 6,633 (5,622) 1,011
Other 11,241 (388) 10,853

21,819 (18,479) 3,340
Activities other than social housing
Development activities - - -

79,086 (45,986) 33,100

Association 2016

Turnover 
£’000

Operating costs 
£‘000 

Surplus/ (deficit) 
£’000

Income and expenditure
From social housing lettings (see note 3) 54,171 (27,142) 27,029
Other social housing activities:
Supporting People contract income 2,104 (2,780) (676)
Group management services 500 (6,501) (6,001)
First tranche shared ownership sales 3,904 (2,701) 1,203
Forest Gate Private Finance Initiative 6,217 (5,053) 1,164
Other 6,288 (41) 6,247

19,013 (17,076) 1,937
Activities other than social housing
Development activities - - -

73,184 (44,218) 28,966

Association 2015

2. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by class 
of business (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Note: Other income includes £10,816k (2015: £6,288k) of gift aid receivable from Group companies 
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3. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings

General 
needs 

housing 

£’000

NHS Trust 
key

worker 

£’000

Shared 
Ownership 

£’000

Total 
2016

£’000

Total
2015

£’000
Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges 42,758 5,673 1,898 50,329 47,773

Amortised government grant 347 - - 347 327
Service income 5,565 - 245 5,810 5,305
Net rental income 48,670 5,673 2,143 56,486 53,405
Lease income 781 - - 781 766
Turnover from social housing 
lettings 49,451 5,673 2,143 57,267 54,171

Management (10,250) (1,170) (392) (11,812) (11,647)
Services (1,937) (221) (74) (2,232) (1,973)
Routine maintenance (3,409) (389) (131) (3,929) (3,969)
Planned maintenance (2,173) (248) (83) (2,504) (2,735)
Bad debts (152) (17) (6) (175) (292)
Depreciation of housing properties (4,872) (1,720) (263) (6,855) (6,526)
Operating costs on social housing 
lettings (22,793) (3,766) (948) (27,507) (27,142)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings 26,658 1,907 1,195 29,760 27,029

Void losses (281) (910) - (1,191) (988)

Group

Notes to the Financial Statements
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General 
needs 

housing 

£’000

NHS Trust 
key

worker 

£’000

Shared 
Ownership 

£’000

Total 
2016

£’000

Total
2015

£’000
Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges 42,758 5,673 1,898 50,329 47,773

Amortised government grant 347 - - 347 327
Service income 5,565 - 245 5,810 5,305
Net rental income 48,670 5,673 2,143 56,486 53,405
Lease income 781 - - 781 766
Turnover from social housing 
lettings 49,451 5,673 2,143 57,267 54,171

Management (10,250) (1,170) (392) (11,812) (11,647)
Services (1,937) (221) (74) (2,232) (1,973)
Routine maintenance (3,409) (389) (131) (3,929) (3,969)
Planned maintenance (2,173) (248) (83) (2,504) (2,735)
Bad debts (152) (17) (6) (175) (292)
Depreciation of housing properties (4,872) (1,720) (263) (6,855) (6,526)
Operating costs on social housing 
lettings (22,793) (3,766) (948) (27,507) (27,142)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings 26,658 1,907 1,195 29,760 27,029

Void losses (281) (910) - (1,191) (988)

Association

3. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings 
(continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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5. Staff Numbers and Costs

6. Sale of Housing Assets

The average numbers of persons employed by the Group expressed both in full time equivalents and numbers of staff 
members (including senior executives but excluding Board members), analysed by category were as follows: 

                      GROUP                         GROUP
2016
FTEs

2016
No.

2015
FTEs

2015
No.

Administration staff 259 277 236 261
Maintenance 6 6 6 7
Caretakers, cleaners and wardens 73 93 68 77

338 376 310 345

The aggregate payroll cost of these persons was as follows:

                                                                                GROUP
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Wages and salaries 12,538 12,096
Social security costs 1,300 1,200
Other pension costs 1,627 540

15,465 13,836

The 2016 pension cost includes a £1.1m (2015: £nil) increase in the provision for past deficit contributions. 
In addition during the year a total of £135k (2015: £36k) was paid in relation to severance and redundancy costs. 

                     GROUP                       ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Disposal proceeds 5,611 5,188 9,231 6,821
Carrying value of housing assets sold (5,934) (6,742) 9,554 (8,375)

(323) (1,554) (323) (1,554)

Parent board members received remuneration of £140k (2015: £123k). Social security costs were £4k. Total 
expenses reimbursed to Board Members were £4k (2015: £9k). 
During the year £70k (2015:£nil) was paid in compensation for loss of office to key management personnel. 

2016
FTE

2015
FTE

£60,001 to £70,000 6 4
£70,001 to £80,000 6 3
£80,001 to £90,000 5 2
£90,001 to £100,000 0 1
> £100,001 12 10

The aggregate amount of executive directors’ remuneration for the year (excluding pension contributions and taxable 
benefits) was £1,130k (2015: £1,026k). Directors’ pension contributions for the year were £76k. Directors social security 
costs for the year were £141k.

Remuneration of the highest paid senior executive (Chief Executive) was £210k.  In addition a payment in lieu of 
pension contributions of £38k was paid in the year. Social security costs were £33k.

The full time equivalents number of key management personnel, which includes executive directors and key senior 
managers, who receive remuneration:

4. Key Management Personnel
Notes to the Financial Statements

The carrying value of housing assets sold includes recycled capital grant as detailed in note 18
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7. Interest Receivable

                  GROUP                   ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Bank interest receivable 125 95 90   56
Interest on inter-group lending - -    945 894

125 95  1,035    950

8. Interest Payable and Similar Charges

                       GROUP                           ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Bank loans and overdrafts 11,557 16,038 11,551     16,032
Bond 5,460 387 5,460 387
Other bank charges 330 451 330 451
Finance lease charges 254 251 254 251

17,601 17,127 17,595 17,121
Less: interest capitalised (970) (1,584) (970)     (1,584)

16,631 15,543 16,625     15,537

8a. Loan capital restructuring costs

                 GROUP                  ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Loan capital restructuring costs -    23,053 - 23,053

In March 2015 the Group restructured its syndicated loan facility and issued a £250m bond of which £100m was 
retained.  

£2.3m of the exceptional loan capital restructuring costs related to the expensing of loan issue costs deferred in 2008 
at the time of an earlier refinancing.  £2.2m of the exceptional costs relate to transaction fees associated with the 2015 
restructure of the syndicated bank facility and the issuance of the bond.  The remaining £20.4m of capital restructuring 
costs relate to the settling of the mark to market position on a £60m hedge with the Co-Op Bank.

The £24.9m of capital restructuring costs previously reported have been restated on transition to FRS 102. The 
reduction of £1.9m is attributable to fees previously written off under UK GAAP being capitalised in accordance with 
FRS102.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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9. Surplus/(Deficit) for the year

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

The surplus/(deficit) for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration
   Audit of financial statements 83 79
   Other audit services 28 27
   Other services 16 38
Depreciation on housing properties 6,619 6,269

Depreciation on component replacement 239 256
Depreciation on other fixed assets    530 388
Operating surplus Forest Gate PFI (1,011) (1,164)
Operating lease charges    144 217
Impairment - -
Group service fees from other Group undertakings (note 25) - -
Amortisation of goodwill 66 70

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

The (deficit)/surplus for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration:
   Audit of financial statements 83 79
   Other audit services 28 27
   Other services 16 38
Depreciation on housing properties 6,619 6,269

Depreciation on component replacement 239 256
Depreciation on other fixed assets    524 376
Operating surplus Forest Gate PFI (1,011) (1,164)
Operating lease charges    144 217
Impairment - -
Group service fees from other Group undertakings (note 25) (500) (500)
Amortisation of goodwill - -

Group

Association

Notes to the Financial Statements
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10. Taxation

2016

£’000

2015

£’000
Tax charge/(credit) on surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities 
Current tax:
Arising from earlier periods - -

Current year movements - -
Deferred tax:
Arising from earlier periods - -
Current year movements - -
Tax charge/(credit) on surplus / (deficit) on ordinary activities - -
Tax reconciliation to tax charge/(credit)
Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before tax 11,154 (37,013)
Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation 
tax in the UK of 21% (2015: 23%)

2,342 (8,513)

Unrecognised losses utilised (2) -
Charitable tax exemption (2,340) 8,513
Adjustment in respect of prior periods - -
Total tax charge/(credit) for year - -

2016

£’000

2015

£’000
Tax charge/(credit) on surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities
Current tax: - -
Arising from earlier periods - -
Current year movements
Deferred tax: - -
Arising from earlier periods - -
Current year movements - -
Tax charge/(credit) on surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities - -
Tax reconciliation to tax charge/(credit)
Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before tax 11,310 (36,513)
Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation 
tax in the UK of 21% (2015: 23%) 

2,375 (8,398)

Unrecognised losses utilised - -

Charitable tax exemption (2,375) 8,398
Adjustment in respect of prior periods - -
Total tax charge/(credit) for year - -

Deferred tax relating to tax losses of £414k (2015: £426k) have not been recognised since, although the Board expect 
the subsidiary businesses to generate future profits capable of offset by the losses, they do not consider that the 
standards required for recognition have yet been met.

Group

Association

Notes to the Financial Statements
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11. Intangible Fixed Assets
Goodwill on acquisition 

Goodwill
£’000

Cost
At 1 April 2015 1,007
Additions 49
At 31 March 2016 1,056
Amortisation
At 1 April 2015 (165)
Charge for year (66)
At 31 March 2016 (231)
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2016 825

At 31 March 2015 843

Group

Notes to the Financial Statements

Additions in the year relate to the acquisition of the business and assets of Secure Sitting Services Limited.
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12. Tangible Fixed Assets
Housing properties

Group

General/
special 
needs

£’000

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

£’000

Completed 
NHS key 

worker

£’000

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

£’000

Under 
construction

£’000

Total

£’000
Cost
At 1 April 2015 517,934 54,400 64,079 2,786 66,682 705,881
Additions 4,120 - - - 14,024 18,144
Disposals (460)  (3,323) - - (3,620) (7,403)
Completions 66,624 1,652 - - (68,276) -
Transfer from current assets - - - - 14,562 14,562
Cost at 31 March 2016 588,218 52,729 64,079 2,786 23,372 731,184

Depreciation
At 1 April 2015 (4,504) (269) (13,445) (2,393) - (20,611)
Disposals 5 17 - - - 22
Charge for year (4,841) (264) (1,721) (31) - (6,857)
At 31 March 2015 (9,340) (516) (15,166) (2,424) - (27,446)

Net book value
At 31 March 2016 578,878 52,213 48,913 362 23,372 703,738

At 31 March 2015 513,430 54,131 50,634 393 66,682 685,270

Cost at 31 March 2016 is 
represented by
Gross cost 747,802 42,412 64,079 2,786 23,372 880,451
Less: Depreciation (47,371) (3,357) (15,166) (2,424) - (68,318)
Less: Social housing grant (235,451) (13,754) - - - (249,205)
Less: Other public sector grant (30,829) (7,912) - - - (38,741)
Revaluation reserve 144,727 34,824 - - - 179,551

578,878 52,213 48,913 362 23,372 703,738

Notes to the Financial Statements
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12. Tangible Fixed Assets (continued)
Housing properties (continued)

General/
special 
needs

£’000

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

£’000

Completed 
NHS key 

worker

£’000

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

£’000

Under 
construction

£’000

Total

£’000
Cost
At 1 April 2015 517,934 54,400 64,079 2,786 71,970 711,169
Additions 4,120 - - - 14,133 18,253
Disposals (460) (3,323) - - (3,620) (7,403)
Completions 66,624 1,652 - - (68,276) -
Transfer from current asset - - - - 14,562 14,562
Cost at 31 March 2016 588,218 52,729 64,079 2,786 28,769 736,581

Depreciation
At 1 April 2015 (4,504) (269) (13,445) (2,393) - (20,611)
Disposals 5 17 - - - 22
Charge for year (4,841) (264) (1,721) (31) - (6,857)
At 31 March 2016 (9,340) (516) (15,166) (2,424) - (27,446)

Net book value
At 31 March 2016 578,878 52,213 48,913 362 28,769 709,135

At 31 March 2015 513,430 54,131 50,634 393 71,970 690,558

Cost at 31 March 2016 is 
represented by
Gross Cost 747,802 42,412 64,079 2,786 28,769 885,848
Less: Depreciation (47,371) (3,357) (15,166) (2,424) - (68,318)
Less: Social Housing Grant (235,451) (13,754) - - - (249,205)
Less: Other Public Sector Grant (30,829) (7,912) - - - (38,741)
Revaluation reserve 144,727 34,824 - - - 179,551

578,878 52,213 48,913 362 23,372 709,135

Association

Notes to the Financial Statements



54 Swan Housing Association Limited Annual Report 2016

12. Intangible Fixed Assets (continued)
Housing properties (continued)

Included within additions are development administration costs of Group: £570k, Association: £570k, (2015 Group: 
£490k, Association: £490k) and interest capitalised of Group: £970k, Association: £970k (2015 Group: £1,584k, 
Association: £1,584k). The interest capitalisation was calculated using the Group’s average cost of floating rate 
borrowing each month.  The average rate during the year was 3.77% (2015: 3.85%).

The maintenance and repair expenditure on housing properties for the Group is £9.4m, Association £9.4m (2015 
Group: £8.3m, Association: £8.3m).  £4.1m of this expenditure is capitalised (2015: £3.8m) for both Group and 
Association.

The transfer from current assets includes movements to reflect changes in the tenure mix on development schemes 
under construction as well as additions and completions during the year.

All completed housing stock of the Group was restated at deemed cost on transition for FRS. The deemed cost was 
based on the Existing Use Value for Social Housing (EUV-SH) for accounts purposes as at 31 March 2014. 

Completed NHS Keyworker properties are carried at cost less depreciation.

During the current year, the Group and Association have not made any impairment adjustments (2015: £nil)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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13. Other Tangible Fixed Assets
Other tangible fixed assets

Freehold offices & 
temporary 

buildings

£’000

Computer 
equipment

£’000

Office equipment 
and fittings

£’000

Total

£’000
Cost
At 1 April 2015 1,938 4,466 1,921 8,325
Additions - 43 134 177
Disposals - (574) - (574)
At 31 March 2016 1,938 3,935 2,055 7,928
Depreciation
At 1 April 2015 (66) (3,809) (1,454) (5,329)
Charge for year (39) (372) (118) (529)
Depreciation on disposals - 330 - 330
At 31 March 2016 (105) (3,851) (1,572) (5,528)
Net book value
At 31 March 2016 1,833 83 483 2,400

At 31 March 2015 1,872 657 467 2,996

Freehold offices & 
temporary 

buildings

£’000

Computer 
equipment

£’000

Office equipment 
and fittings

£’000

Total

£’000
Cost
At 1 April 2015 1,938       4,413 1,921 8,272
Additions  -   39 134 173
Disposals -   (574) - (574)
At 31 March 2016 1,938    3,878 2,055 7,871
Depreciation
At 1 April 2015     (66) (3,766)     (1,454) (5,286)
Charge for year  (39)     (367) (118)        (524)
Depreciation on disposal - 331 - 331
At 31 March 2016 (105)   (3,802)    (1,572)    (5,479)
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2016 1,833    76 483 2,392

At 31 March 2015 1,872      647 467 2,986

Group

Association

Notes to the Financial Statements
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14. Investments

Investments

£’000
Loans to Group 

companies

£’000
Shares in Group 

companies

£ ’000
Total

At 1 April 2015   14,300    12   14,312   
Net repayment by Group member (5,550)       - (5,550)       
At 31 March 2016 8,750 12 8,762 

During the year ended 31 March 2016 net repayments of £5,550k have been received from Swan New Homes.  

Company Activity Country of registration
Swan New Homes Limited Build of new homes United Kingdom
Swan Commercial Services Limited Design and build contractor United Kingdom
Hera Management Services Limited* Property management United Kingdom
Vivo Support Limited* Care and support services United Kingdom
Swan Housing Capital plc Treasury United Kingdom

*Owned indirectly – 100% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

Association

15. Properties Held For Sale and Work In Progress

                     GROUP                        ASSOCIATION
2016

£’000
2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Shared ownership properties
Completed properties - - - -
Work in progress 16,196 32,392 16,196 32,392

16,196 32,392 16,196 32,392
Properties developed for 
outright sale
Completed properties 174 - - -
Work in progress 24,536 22,014 - -

40,906 54,406 16,196 32,392

Notes to the Financial Statements

The principal wholly owned subsidiaries are:
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17. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

16. Debtors

a) Due within one year
                          GROUP                         ASSOCIATION

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Gross arrears of rent and service 
charges

1,341 1,412 1,341 1,412

Less: provision for bad and 
doubtful debts

(555) (630) (555) (630)

Net arrears of rent and service 
charges  786 782  786 782

Other debtors 1,972 5,832 1,291 5,237
Prepayments and accrued 
income

11,734 11,967 11,377 10,759

Amounts owed by Group 
undertakings

- - 2,112 99

14,492 18,581 15,566 16,877

b) Due after one year

Other prepayments and accrued 
income - PFI

33,566 32,090 33,566 32,090

Equity retained in 
properties sold

812 886 - -

34,378 32,976 33,566 32,090

                        GROUP                         ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Trade creditors 4,882 4,367 2,796       2,344
Other taxation and social security 469 563 411 521
Other creditors 3,808 4,787      2,108 2,425
Deferred grant income 499 347 499 347
Amounts owed to Group 
undertakings

- -      1,541 5,178

Accruals and deferred income 23,488 20,195 9,135 8,711
Interest payable 2,191 2,284 1,804 1,897
PFI loan 2,185 2,107 2,185 2,107
Corporation tax - - - -

37,522 34,650      20,479 23,530

Notes to the Financial Statements
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18. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

The bank loans above are drawn from bi-lateral loan facilities of £339.3m. Bank loans are secured by charges on 
specific properties and floating charges, and are repayable at variable and fixed rates of interest between 1.71% and 
6.10%. On 5 March 2015 the Group issued a £250m bond with £100m retained. The bond has coupon rate of 3.625%, 
matures in 2048 and has a life of 33 years. Security for the bond has been provided in the form of housing assets.

                        GROUP                          ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Bank loans (see analysis below) 371,409 392,657 371,409 392,657
Bond (see analysis below) 148,462 148,440 - -
Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 148,462 148,440
Finance leases 3,023 3,023 3,023 3,023

Deferred consideration 25 94 - -
Disposals proceeds funds 1,393 1,664 1,393 1,664
Recycled capital grant fund 2,765 2,639 2,765 2,639
Deferred grant income 36,813 33,628 36,813 33,628

563,890 582,145 563,865 582,051
Bank loans and Bond, due after 
one year:
Housing loans 221,800 246,800 221,800 246,800
Financial instruments at fair value 121,643 115,766 121,643 115,766
Bond 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000
Less: issue costs (1,871) (1,928) (1,871) (1,928)
         bond re-offered spread (1,538) (1,563) (1,538) (1,563)
PFI Loan 29,837 32,022 29,837 32,022

519,871 541,097 519,871 541,097
Bank loans and Bond maturity 
(excluding PFI)
Falling due less than one year - - - -
Falling due within one to two years 1,193 - 1,193 -
Falling due two to five years 2,079 2,232 2,079 2,232
Falling due for repayment after five 
years

431,028 457,068 431,028 457,068

434,300 459,300 434,300 459,300

Notes to the Financial Statements
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                       GROUP                      ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Falling due less than one year 2,185 2,107 2,185 2,107
Falling due within one to two years 2,242 2,185 2,242 2,185
Falling due two to five years 5,194 5,453 5,194 5,453

Falling due for repayment after five 
years

22,401 24,384 22,401 24,384

32,022 34,129 32,022 34,129

PFI loan maturity

The PFI loan is provided by Royal Bank of Scotland plc and repayable in full by 2028.  Interest is paid at 6.21% for the 
remainder of the facility.

18. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
(continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

                      GROUP                       ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Finance leases 3,023 3,023 3,023 3,023

Finance leases represent the capital funding advanced under finance leases for a total of 35 properties. These entail 
the funder (Bradford and Bingley plc) purchasing the freehold of properties on the open market and leasing them to 
Swan Housing Association for 25 years. At the end of the lease term Bradford and Bingley plc has a put option to sell 
the properties and Swan Housing Association has a call option to purchase the properties, both at historic cost, and at 
which point the liability will be settled.

Finance leases
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Analysis of Recycled Capital Grant Fund

Analysis of Disposals Proceeds Fund

Analysis of CNT clawback

Analysis of Deferred Grant Income

                        GROUP                         ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2,639 1,434 2,639 1,434
Additions to the fund 1,639 1,599 1,639 1,599
Utilised during the year (1,513) (394) (1,513) (394)

Balance at 31 March 2,765 2,639 2,765 2,639

                       GROUP                        ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Balance at 1 April 1,665 1,688 1,665 1,688
Additions to the fund 1,478 905 1,478 905
Utilised during the year (1,749) (928) (1,749) (929)

Balance at 31 March 1,393 1,664 1,393 1,664

                      GROUP                          ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Balance at 1 April - - - -
Additions to the fund - 253 - 253
Utilised during the year - (253) - (253)

Balance at 31 March - - - -

                      GROUP                          ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Balance at 1 April 33,975 22,292 33,975 22,292
Grant received during the year 3,684 11,683 3,684 11,683
Release to income during the year (347) - (347) -

Balance at 31 March 37,312 33,975 37,312 33,975
Amounts to be released within one 
year 499 347 499 347

Amounts to be released in more than 
one year 36,813 33,628 36,813 33,628

Deferred grant has no brought forward balance at 1 April 2014 as all grant received prior to transition to FRS102 has 
been treated under the performance model and all performance conditions relating to this grant had been met at the 
date of transition. 

18. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
(continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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19. Share capital - Group and Association

Group and Association

2016
£

2015
£

Outstanding at 1 April 7   6
Allocated during the year 2 5
Cancelled during the year (2) (4)
Shares of £1 each allotted, issued and fully paid at 31 March 7 7

The shares have limited rights. They carry no entitlement to a dividend, are not repayable and do not carry rights to 
participate in a winding up.  They carry an entitlement to vote at the annual and special meetings of the Association. 
When shares are cancelled, the amount paid up becomes the property of the Association.

20. Commitments

Notes to the Financial Statements

i) Capital Commitments at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made:

                      GROUP                        ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Contracted but not provided 190,084 64,684 60,068 18,522
Authorised but not contracted - 9,364 - -

190,084 74,048 60,068 18,522

The Board considers that all expenditure will be financed through a combination of grants of £4.7m (2015: £10.7m), 
sales income of £102.8m (2015: £63.3m) and loan funding £82.6m (2015: £nil).

ii) Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for equipment, motor vehicles 
and commercial office space are as follows:

                    GROUP                     ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Operating lease which expire:
One to five years 1,631 1,550 1,631 1,550
Greater than five years - - - -

1,631 1,550 1,631     1,550

Performance bonds

Swan Housing Association has issued performance bonds in respect of highway and other works which are part of 
development schemes in Basildon and Havering for £797,313 and £499,000 respectively which may be retained by 
the local authorities in the event of works required under the construction programme not being completed.  At present 
the Association is expecting to complete these works satisfactorily. The bonds expire at various dates, the latest of 
which is November 2018.

Social Housing and other capital development grants may be repayable under certain circumstances, primarily 
following the sale of a property.  

21. Contingent liabilities
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22. Analysis of completed property units
Notes to the Financial Statements

At 31 March 2016 the Group’s housing stock comprised:

                         Owned 
                         number of units

                         Managed 
                        number of units

2016 2015 2016 2015
Social housing:
General needs 6,611 6,386 - -
Affordable 231 215 - -
Shared ownership 614 631 - -
Sheltered (elderly) 79 79 - -
Other Supported housing 415 417 - -
NHS key worker 
accommodation

930 930 - -

London Borough of 
Newham

- - 1,323 1,328

Total social housing 8,880 8,658 1,323 1,328
Non-social housing:
Garages 254 241 197 198
Sold to leaseholder with 
retained freehold

742 700 - -

Total housing stock 9,876 9,599 1,520 1,526

The total units owned and managed by the Group as at 31 March 2016 equates to 11,396 (2015: 11,125).

25. Subsidiaries
Swan Housing Association provides staff and other services to its subsidiaries under the terms of procedure 
agreements.  Details of the amount charged to the subsidiaries within the Group are as follows: 

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Amount charged:
Swan Commercial Services Limited 150 150
Swan New Homes Limited 350 350

500 500

23. Legislative Provisions
The Association is registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Act 2014 with the reference 
28496R, and with the Homes and Communities Agency under reference L4145 under the Housing and Regeneration 
Act 2008 as a Registered Provider.

24. Related Party Disclosures
The Association has provided car purchase loans to one staff member.

The Association had the following activity with non-regulated entities in the Group. Swan New Homes Limited 
£3,970k (2015: £1,983k) land, property sales and fees, Swan Commercial Services Limited £7,039k (2015: £33,293k) 
construction activities and management fees, Hera Management Services Limited £101k (2015: £126k) property 
management services, Vivo Support Limited £700k (2015: £513k) care services.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

• COMPANY: Swan Housing Association
• SCHEME: The Pensions Trust – Social Housing Pension Scheme

The company participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to some 500 non-
associated employers. The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for the company to obtain 
sufficient information to enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit scheme. Therefore it accounts for the 
scheme as a defined contribution scheme.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 
December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial Standards 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension 
schemes in the UK.

The scheme is classified as a ‘last-man standing arrangement’. Therefore the company is potentially liable for other 
participating employers’ obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit following 
withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on 
an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2014. This actuarial 
valuation was certified on 23 November 2015 and showed assets of £3,123m, liabilities of £4,446m and a deficit of 
£1,323m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, the trustees and the participating employers have agreed that additional 
contributions will be paid, in combination from all employers, to the scheme as follows:

26. Pensions

Tier 1 From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2020 £40.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 4.7% 
each year on 1st April)

Tier 2 From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2023 £28.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 4.7% 
each year on 1st April)

Tier 3 From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026 £32.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 3.0% 
each year on 1st April)

Tier 4 From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026: £31.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 3.0% 
each year on 1st April)

Deficit contributions

Note that the scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2011; this valuation 
was certified on 17 December 2012 and showed assets of £2,062m, liabilities of £3,097m and a deficit of £1,035m. To 
eliminate this funding shortfall, payments consisted of the Tier 1, 2 & 3 deficit contributions.

Where the scheme is in deficit and where the company has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement, the company 
recognises a liability for this obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit reduction 
contributions payable under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The present value is calculated using the 
discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the discount rate is recognised as a finance cost.
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26. Pensions (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Present values of provision
31 March 2016 

£’000
31 March 2015 

£’000
31 March 2014 

£’000
Present value of provision 5,537 4,897 5,336

Reconciliation of opening and closing provisions
31 March 2016

£’000
31 March 2015 

£’000
Provision at 1 April 4,897 5,336

Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 166 181

Deficit contribution paid (648) (620)

Remeasurements - impact of any change in assumptions - -
Remeasurements - amendments to the contribution schedule 1,122 -

Provision at 31 March 5,537 4,897

Statement of comprehensive income impact
31 March 2016 

£’000
31 March 2015 

£’000
Interest expense 166 181

Remeasurements – impact of any change in assumptions - -

Remeasurements – amendments to the contribution schedule 1,122 -

Assumptions
31 March 2016 

%
31 March 2015 

%
31 March 2014 

%
Rate of discount 3.63 3.63 3.63

The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount the future 
recovery plan contributions due, would give the same results as using a full AA corporate bond yield curve to discount 
the same recovery plan contributions.

The following schedule details the deficit contributions agreed between the company and the scheme at each year 
end period:
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26. Pensions (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Year ending 31 March 2016 
£’000

31 March 2015 
£’000

31 March 2014 
£’000

Year 1 788 648 620

Year 2 821 676 648
Year 3 856 706 676
Year 4 892 737 706
Year 5 730 770 737
Year 6 555 604 770
Year 7 577 426 604
Year 8 438 443 426
Year 9 288 300 443
Year 10 297 147 300
Year 11 153 151 147
Year 12 - 78 151
Year 13 - - 78
Year 14 - - -
Year 15 - - -
Year 16 - - -
Year 17 - - -
Year 18 - - -
Year 19 - - -
Year 20 - - -

The company recognises a liability measured as the present value of the contributions payable that arise from the 
deficit recovery agreement and the resulting expense in the income and expenditure account i.e. the unwinding of the 
discount rate as a finance cost in the period in which it arises.

It is these contributions that have been used to derive the company's balance sheet liability.

27. Financial assets and liabilities

                    GROUP                     ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Floating rate 14,853 20,109 23,076 34,315

Other than short term debtors, financial assets held are investments in other entities and cash deposits placed on call. 
They are sterling denominated and the interest rate profile at 31 March was:

The assets attract interest rates that vary with bank rates.

Financial assets
Our treasury strategy is in the Strategic Report.
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27. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Financial liabilities excluding trade creditors – interest rate risk profile

The Group’s financial liabilities are sterling denominated. After taking into account various interest rate swaps, the 
interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 March was:

                    GROUP                     ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Floating rate 121,800 146,800 121,800 146,800
Fixed 344,522 346,629 344,522 346,629

Total 466,322 493,429 466,322 493,429

Borrowing Facilities
The Group has undrawn committed borrowing facilities. The facilities available at 31 March in respect of which all 
conditions precedent had been met were as follows:

                    GROUP                     ASSOCIATION
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Expiring in less than 2 years 20,000 - 20,000 -
Expiring in more than 2 years 35,000 30,000 35,000 30,000

In addition to the above the Group has £100m of retained bonds which are available for issue subject to the 
appropriate security being available. The retained bonds expire in 2020.

The floating rate financial liabilities comprise bank loans that bear interest at rates based on the three month LIBOR.

The fixed rate financial liabilities have a weighted average interest rate of 4.73% (2015: 4.83%) and the weighted 
average period for which it is fixed is 20 years (2015: 22 years).

The debt maturity profile is shown in note 18.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

  GROUP
Book value Fair value
2016

£’000
2015

£’000
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Primary financial 
instruments held or issued 
to finance the Group’s 
operations
Current asset trade 
investments

14,853 20,109 14,853 20,109

Current portion of long term 
borrowings at amortised cost

2,185 2,107 2,263 2,178

Long term borrowings at fair 
value through statement of 
comprehensive income

121,643 115,766 121,643 115,766

Long term borrowings at 
amortised cost

401,637 428,822 451,342 476,319

ASSOCIATION
Book value Fair value
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

14,853 20,109 14,853 20,109

2,185 2,107 2,263 2,178

121,643 115,766 121,643 115,766

401,637 428,822 451,342 476,319

The fair value of long term borrowings includes the mark to market position of the embedded interest rate swaps. 
There is no requirement to post collateral against the out of the money mark to market positions.
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28. Reconciliation of previously reported figures

The Association has adopted FRS102 for the year ended 31 March 2016 and has restated the comparative prior year 
amounts.

Changes for FRS102 adoption

Financial instruments
At the transition date of 1 April 2014 one of the Group’s loans was classified as a non basic financial instrument under 
section 11.9. The loan is non basic as it includes an embedded mandatory swap payment on termination of the loan 
which results in the return to the lender being a combination of a positive fixed rate and a negative variable rate (as 
part of the notional swap value). The fair value of this loan has been calculated at the transition date by the Group’s 
treasury consultants and a £(26.9)m adjustment has been and included in the opening reserves. (Ref j)

When the Group carried out its capital restructure and bond issue in March 2015 a second loan became non basic 
under section 11.9. A fair value movement of £(26.3)m for the year ended 31 March 2015 has been calculated by 
the Group’s treasury advisors for the two non basic loans. This movement is included in the restated deficit for the 
comparative year. The restated deficit also includes £1.9m in respect of capitalised costs relating to the capital 
restructure which were written off under old UK GAAP. (Refs a & d)

SHPS pension
Under section 28 the Group is required to recognise the net present value of any contractual agreements to make 
additional payments for a past deficit. Using a discount rate of 3.625% this has resulted in a liability of £(5.3)m being 
recognised as a provision in the opening reserves. (Ref k)

The restated deficit for the comparative year ended 31 March 2015 includes a £0.4m release of the provision 
recognised on transition. (Ref b)

Holiday Pay 
In accordance with section 28 the Group has recognised £(25)k in the restated deficit for the year ended 31 March 
2015 for holiday pay. This relates to annual leave accrued but not utilised by employees as a result of services 
rendered in the current period which they are entitled to carry forward and use in the next financial year. (Ref h)

Housing properties
The Group has taken the option on transition to move from a revaluation policy for properties to deemed cost this has 
resulted in a £(1.5)m adjustment in the opening revaluation reserve. (Ref n)

The conversion to deemed cost resulted in movements in the restated deficit for the year ended 31 March 2015 
relating to the depreciation charge for housing properties of £1.2m and the costs written out for 1st tranche disposals 
£1.9m. (Refs e and g)

Grant accounting
Grants were previously netted off the cost of the relevant asset. Under FRS102 government grants are to be 
accounted for using either the accruals model or the performance model.

From the date of transition, when the Group started accounting for properties at cost, it has adopted the accruals 
method for government grants as required by the SORP 2014. Under this method government grants have been 
allocated to the relevant assets and are being amortised over the useful economic life of those assets. The 
unamortised amount is held with creditors and is split between less than and greater than 1 year. £0.3m of grant has 
been amortised in the restated deficit for the year ended 31 March 2015. (Ref c)

Up to the date of transition, when the Group held properties at revaluation, grants have been accounted for under the 
performance model. This model requires grants to be recognised as income when the Group has entitlement or when 
the performance conditions for the grant have been met. The opening revaluation reserve includes grant obtained in 
relation to assets previously held at revaluation. 

The changes in grant accounting resulted in a movement in the restated deficit for the year ended 31 March 2015 of 
£(1.9)m relating to non first tranche asset disposals for properties held pre transition to FRS102. The transfer between 
the revaluation reserve and the income and expenditure reserve was also restated at £2.9m. (Refs f & m)

Prior year adjustment
The prior year consolidation adjustment to the income and expenditure reserve of £2.1m and the £0.4m adjustment 
to the restated deficit for 31 March 2015 both relate to the elimination of costs recharged between Group companies. 
(Refs l & i)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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28. Reconciliation of previously reported figures (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Ref GROUP ASSOCIATION

Original deficit on ordinary activities before tax (15,125) (14,178)

Movement in financial instruments at fair value a (26,285) (26,285)
SHPS Pension Deficit b 439 439
Amortisation of grant c 327 327
Capitalisation of capital restructuring costs d 1,931 1,931
Movement in depreciation of housing properties e 1,222 1,222
Movement in asset disposals f (1,931) (1,931)
Movement in 1st tranche disposals g 1,987 1,987
Holiday pay h (25) (25)
Prior year consolidation adjustment i 447 -

Restated deficit on ordinary activities before tax (37,013) (36,513)

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Original I&E Reserve (UK GAAP) as at 1 April 2014 79,738 86,584
Financial Instruments at fair value j (26,981) (26,981)
SHPS Pension Deficit k (5,336) (5,336)
Prior year consolidation adjustment l 2,095 -
Restated I&E Reserves as at 1 April 2014 49,516 54,267

Restated deficit for year ended 31 March 2015 (see 
above) (37,013) (36,513)

Restated transfer from revaluation reserve m 2,927 2,927

Restated I&E Reserves as at 31 March 2015 15,430 20,681

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Original Revaluation Reserve (UK GAAP) as at 1 April 
2014 182,441 182,441

Deemed cost adjustment n (1,455) (1,455)

Restated I&E Reserve as at 1 April 2014 180,986 180,986

Restated transfer to income and expenditure reserve m (2,927) (2,927)

Restated I&E Reserves at 31 March 2015 178,059 178,059

Restated deficit for the year ended 31 March 2015

Restated Income and Expenditure (I&E) Reserve

Restated Revaluation Reserve
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28. Reconciliation of previously reported figures (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Reconciliation of previously reported reserves as at 31 March 2015

Ref GROUP ASSOCIATION

Balance pre FRS102 transition 66,481 74,274
Reverse 2014/15 movements under previous 
UKGAAP

13,257 12,310

FRS 102 transition adjustments
Financial instruments at fair value j (26,981) (26,981)
SHPS Pension Deficit k (5,336) (5,336)
Prior year consolidation adjustment l 2,095 -
Restated deficit for year ended  March 2015 under 
FRS 102

(37,013) (36,513)

Restated transfer from revaluation reserve m 2,927 2,927
Restated I&E reserve as at 31 March 2015 15,430 20,681

Restated Income and Expenditure (I&E) Reserve

GROUP ASSOCIATION
Balance as at 31 March 2015 pre FRS102 transition 248,500 248,500
Reverse 2014/15 revaluation movements under 
previous UKGAAP

(66,059) (66,059)

FRS 102 transition adjustments
Deemed cost transition adjustment n (1,455) (1,455)

Restated transfer from revaluation reserve m (2,927) (2,927)
Restated Revaluation I&E Reserve as at 31 March 
2015 178,059 178,059

Restated Revaluation Reserve
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29. Post balance sheet event
Notes to the Financial Statements

In late June 2016 Standard & Poor’s (S&P), the credit rating agency, cut the rating of the UK by two notches from AAA 
to AA as a result of the uncertainty created by the Brexit vote. As with many associations our credit rating benefits 
from an expectation of government support and as a result of the downgrade of the UK government S&P downgraded 
the Swan credit rating from AA- (stable) to A+ (negative). The impact of the Brexit vote also resulted in the 30 year gilt 
rate falling to historically low levels and on the 8th July we issued £60m of retained 30 year bonds at a yield of 3.33%.  
The proceeds of the bond will be used to refinance existing bank debt.
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